ASGARD Analysis Cockpit v4 Manual

Nextron Systems

Apr 10, 2024

CONTENTS

| 1 | Requ | irements | 3 |
|---|-------|--|-----|
| | 1.1 | Introduction | 3 |
| | 1.2 | Hardware Requirements | 4 |
| | 1.3 | Network Requirements | 4 |
| | 1.4 | Verify the Downloaded ISO (Optional) | 7 |
| | 1.5 | Other Optional Requirements | 8 |
| 2 | Setur | o Guide | 9 |
| | 2.1 | Create a New ESX VM and Mount the ISO | 9 |
| | 2.2 | Navigate through the Installer | 9 |
| | 2.3 | Network Configuration | 9 |
| | 2.4 | Choosing a password | 7 |
| | 2.5 | Partitioning of the Hard Disk 1 | 8 |
| | 2.6 | Proxy Configuration | 8 |
| | 2.7 | Changing the IP-Address | 9 |
| | 2.8 | Install the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit Service | 0 |
| 3 | Admi | inistration 2 | 5 |
| - | 3.1 | Connect to ASGARD Management Center | 5 |
| | 3.2 | Asset View | 5 |
| | 3.3 | Configure Canned Recommendations | 7 |
| | 3.4 | Syslog Forwarding | 7 |
| | 3.5 | TLS Certificate Installation | 9 |
| | 3.6 | Configure LDAP | 1 |
| | 3.7 | Configure Notifications | 1 |
| | 3.8 | Log File Import | 5 |
| | 3.9 | Sandbox Integration | 8 |
| | 3.10 | API | 3 |
| 4 | Basic | c Concepts | 5 |
| - | 4.1 | Events 4 | 5 |
| | 4.2 | Baselining | 6 |
| | 4.3 | Cases and Log Processing | 9 |
| | 4.4 | Understanding Users, Roles, Rights and Case Status | 4 |
| 5 | Basel | lining | 1 |
| 0 | 5 1 | Customize Your View | 1 |
| | 5.2 | Manual Case Creation | 1 |
| | 5.3 | Automated Case Creation 77 | 3 |
| | 5.4 | Add to Case | 3 |
| | | | - 1 |

| | 5.5Customizing the Detailed View of Log Lines | 76 76 |
|----|--|-----------------|
| 6 | Case Management Best Practices 5.1 Open a Case for Editing | 79 79 |
| | 5.2 Case Dispatching | 80 |
| | 5.3 Closing a Case | 80 |
| | 6.4 Generate and Review auto_case_ids | 81 |
| | 5.5 More Information about Cases | 82 84 |
| | | 64 |
| 7 | Maintenance | 85 |
| | 7.1 Configuration Backup & Restore | 85 |
| | 7.2 Regain Disk Space | 80 |
| | 7.5 Increasing Elastic Search S neap Space | 00 89 |
| | | 07 |
| 8 | Typical Pitfalls | 91 |
| | 2.2 Log File Import of Dravious Veers | 91 |
| | 3.2 Log File Import of Flevious Tears | 91 |
| | A Recover from a Full Disk | 92 |
| | S Debug Failed File Imports | 93 |
| | B.6 Fixing a Broken Proxy Configuration | 93 |
| 0 | | 95 |
| |) 1 Disabling Assignment Logs | 95 |
| | 9.2 No Events visible | 95 |
| | 0.3 No new Events in Case | 96 |
| | 0.4 Location of Scan Logs | 96 |
| | 0.5 Default password for file downloads | 97 |
| | Disk Space filling up quickly Image: Control of the second seco | 97 |
| | D.7Reverse Proxy to access the Analysis Cockpit | 97 |
| | D.8 Internet Explorer | 98 |
| | 0.9 Admin Password reset | 98 |
| | 0.10 Multi Factor Authentication reset | 98 |
| 10 | Known Issues | 99 |
| | 0.1 AAC#003: [WAR] could not create case | 99 |
| | 0.2 AAC#002: Scan stuck at Status "Unknown" | 99 |
| | 0.3 AAC#001: Could not get table data: Data too large | 101 |
| 11 | Upgrade from Cockpit v3.10.1 to Cockpit v4.x | 103 |
| | 1.1 Cluster Upgrade | 103 |
| | 1.2 Standalone Upgrade | 110 |
| 12 | Glossary | 113 |
| | 2.1 Baselining | 113 |
| | 2.2 Cases | 114 |
| | 2.3 Invisible (Backend) | 116 |
| 13 | Changelog | 117 |
| | 3.1 Analysis Cockpit v4 | 117 |
| 14 | index | 119 |

Index

Welcome to Nextron System's Manual for the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit v4.

Note: If you are still using an older version of the Analysis Cockpit, please click here to see the older version of the documentation.

Analysis Cockpit is the central platform for analyzing THOR events and SIGMA matches generated by ASGARDs real time agents.

It can be used in an environment where scans results can be automatically collected from ASGARD Management Centers or environments in which THOR is executed by scripts or any other 3rd party solution.

In the following chapters we will describe how the Analysis Cockpit works, how to install the system, and how to use it. Additional information regarding troubleshooting, known issues, or general administrative tasks can also be found.

CHAPTER

REQUIREMENTS

In this chapter we will go over the requirements needed to get your Analysis Cockpit set up correctly. Please follow those steps carefully and don't skip anything, as you might encounter problems during or after the installation.

1.1 Introduction

Analysis Cockpit is the central platform for analyzing THOR events and SIGMA matches generated by ASGARDs real time agents.

It can be used in an environment where scans results can be automatically collected from ASGARD Management Centers or environments in which THOR is executed by scripts or any other 3^{rd} party solution.

It is available as a virtual appliance on VMWare and also as a dedicated hardware appliance.

While THOR can also be seen or used as hunting solution THOR is optimized to avoid false negatives – meaning optimized to not miss an indicator of compromise. On the other side this clearly leads to more anomalies and false positives being reported.

In a scenario where you scan your infrastructure frequently you would either be seeing the same anomalies again and again or you would need to create many rules to filter out these anomalies in order to save analysis time.

Analysis Cockpit is designed to facilitate this process and help you generate these rules automatically, so that you can set your baseline-filters after the first scan. After setting the first baseline it is now easy to focus on relevant Alerts and Warnings as only differences between the first and second scans are shown.

Analysis Cockpit comes with an integrated and highly configurable ticketing system that helps organizing your analysis workflow and – if required – interfaces to your existing ticketing system through a configurable connector. If ASGARD's Bifrost_2 Service is used to collect suspicious samples, the Analysis Cockpit can submit the samples to various Sandbox systems and include the report in the graphical frontend.

Furthermore, Analysis Cockpit comes with a rule-based alert forwarding and SIEM integration that makes it easy for your organization to react quickly on new incidents. For organizations or projects where a SIEM system is not available, Analysis Cockpit features a separate notification section to deal with alerts and notifications you would normally process in a SIEM system.

The following document describes requirements, the installation process and best practices to group, classify and dispatch events for further analysis.

1.2 Hardware Requirements

There are a few things to consider, before you start with the installation.

If you install on VMWare, the minimum requirements for the virtual machine are as follows:

- System memory: 16 GB
- Hard disk: 200 GB
- CPU cores: 2

The disk size of 200 GB is fine in scenarios where you import only Alerts and Warnings into the Cockpit, scan less than 1.000 systems on a weekly basis and want to keep the logs for less than one year. If you also import Notices and Info messages for these 1.000 servers, we recommend a disk size of at least 500 GB.

The Analysis Cockpit does not have any filters on which type of events will be imported into the database. This has to be controlled by chaning your scan parameters in your ASGARD Management Center. To change the log level, you can use the --reduced parameter for all of your scans.

Hint: --reduced - Reduced output mode - only warnings, alerts and errors will be printed.

For an Installation of up to 20.000 endpoints the following specifications are recommended:

- System memory: 32 GB
- Hard disk: 2 TB SSD
- CPU cores: 4

1.3 Network Requirements

The Analysis Cockpit and other systems which will have to communicate with each other, need the following ports opened within the network. For a detailed and up to date list of our update and licensing servers, please visit https://www.nextron-systems.com/resources/hosts/.

The Analysis Cockpit requires the following open ports (incoming).

1.3.1 From Management Workstation to Analysis Cockpit

| Description | Ports |
|------------------------------|---------|
| Administrative Web Interface | 443/tcp |
| Command Line Access | 22/tcp |

1.3.2 From Analyst Workstation to Analysis Cockpit

| Description | Ports |
|------------------------------|---------|
| Administrative Web Interface | 443/tcp |

1.3.3 From ASGARD Management Center to Analysis Cockpit

| Description | Ports |
|-----------------------|------------------|
| Syslog Forwarding | 514/tcp, 514/udp |
| Asset Synchronization | 7443/tcp |

1.3.4 From Analysis Cockpit to SIEM (optional)

| Description | Ports |
|-------------------|------------------|
| Syslog Forwarding | 514/tcp, 514/udp |

1.3.5 From Analysis Cockpit to the Internet

The Analysis Cockpit is configured to retrieve updates from the following URLs:

• https://update-301.nextron-systems.com

A proxy system should be configured to allow access to these URLs without TLS/SSL interception (Analysis Cockpit uses client-side SSL certificates for authentication). It is possible to configure a proxy server, username and password during the setup process of the Analysis Cockpit platform. It only supports BASIC authentication, not NTLM Authentication.

1.3.6 From Analysis Cockpit to Sandbox Systems (optional)

Depending on the Sandbox system and your individual configuration.

| Description | Ports |
|---------------------|-------------------|
| Sandbox (typically) | 443/tcp, 8080/tcp |

1.3.7 Time Synchronization

Analysis Cockpit tries to reach the public Debian time servers by default.

| Server | Port |
|-----------------------|---------|
| 0.debian.pool.ntp.org | 123/udp |
| 1.debian.pool.ntp.org | 123/udp |
| 2.debian.pool.ntp.org | 123/udp |

The NTP server configuration can be changed in the settings.

1.3.8 DNS

Analysis Cockpit needs to be able to resolve internal and external IP addresses.

Warning: Please make sure that you install your Analysis Cockpit with a domain name (see *Network Configuration*). If you do not set the domain name and install the ASGARD package, you will have problems connecting your ASGARD(s) to the Analysis Cockpit.

All components you install should have a proper domain name configured to avoid issues further during the configuration.

1.3.9 Internet Access during Installation

The Analysis Cockpit installer requires Internet access during the setup. The installation process will fail if required packages cannot be loaded from https://update3.nextron-systems.com

SSL/TLS Interception

The installation and update processes do not accept an unknown but valid SSL/TLS certificate presented by an intercepting entity and therefore don't support SSL/TLS interception.

Since our products are usually used in possibly compromised environments, the integrity of our software and update packages has highest priority.

1.3.10 Architecture Overview

The following image shows an architecture overview with all products and their communication relationships.



Fig. 1: Full Architecture

1.4 Verify the Downloaded ISO (Optional)

You can do a quick hash check to verify that the download was not corrupted. We recommend to verify the downloaded ISO's signature as this is the cryptographically sound method.

The hash and signature file are both part of the ZIP archive you download from our portal server.

1.4.1 Via Hash

Extract the ZIP and check the sha256 hash:

On Linux

```
user@unix:~/nextron-universal-installer$ sha256sum -c nextron-universal-installer.iso.

→ sha256
nextron-universal-installer.iso: OK
```

or in Windows command prompt

or in Powershell

1.4.2 Via Signature (Recommended)

Extract the ZIP, download the public signature and verify the signed ISO:

On Linux

```
use@unix:~/temp$ wget https://www.nextron-systems.com/certs/codesign.pem
use@unix:~/temp$ openssl dgst -sha256 -verify codesign.pem -signature nextron-universal-
installer.iso.sig nextron-universal-installer.iso
Verified OK
```

or in Powershell

```
PS C:\temp\nextron-universal-installer>Invoke-WebRequest -Uri https://www.nextron-

→systems.com/certs/codesign.pem -OutFile codesign.pem
PS C:\temp\nextron-universal-installer>"C:\Program Files\OpenSSL-Win64\bin\openssl.exe"_
→dgst -sha256 -verify codesign.pem -signature nextron-universal-installer.iso.sig_
→nextron-universal-installer.iso
Verified OK
```

Note: If openssl is not present on your system you can easily install it using winget: winget install openssl.

1.5 Other Optional Requirements

1.5.1 Usage of a Reverse Proxy

If you are planing to make the Analysis Cockpit available through a reverse proxy, see *Reverse Proxy to access the Analysis Cockpit*.

CHAPTER

SETUP GUIDE

In this chapter we will show and example installation with VMware ESXi and the provided ISO image to install the Analysis Cockpit. Please pay good attention to the setup during the Debian Installer, since this contains important steps which might break your installation!

2.1 Create a New ESX VM and Mount the ISO

Create a new VM with your virtualization software. In this case, we will use VMWare ESX managed through a VMWare VCenter.

The new VM must be configured with a Linux base system and Debian GNU/Linux 10 (64 bits) as target version. It is recommended to upload the Nextron Universal Installer ISO to an accessible datastore and mount the same to your newly created VM.

Please make sure to select a suitable v-switch or physical interface that reflects the IP address scheme you are planning to use for the new Analysis Cockpit. Only use one Hard Disk for the installation.

2.2 Navigate through the Installer

Start the installation confirming the only available option in the boot loader screen.

The installer then loads the additional components from the ISO image and lets you select a location and language.

Note: If DHCP is available, network parameters will be configured automatically. Without DHCP, ASGARD proceeds with the manual network configuration dialogue.

2.3 Network Configuration

The next step prompts for a hostname for the device. After entering a hostname and clicking Continue, it also prompts for the Domain Name. After this Information is submitted, the Installer tries to get network configurations from a DHCP-Server. If there is none to be found, it will prompt for a static IP-Configuration.

Enter the IP address that Analysis Cockpit should use and optimally directly add a netmask in CIDR notation. (see below) If you don't append the netmask, you'll be asked for a network mask in the following dialogue.

New Virtual Machine

1 Select a creation type

- 2 Select a name and folder
- 3 Select a compute resource
- 4 Select storage
- 5 Select compatibility
- 6 Select a guest OS
- 7 Customize hardware
- 8 Ready to complete

Select a creation type

How would you like to create a virtual machine?

Create a new virtual machine

Deploy from template Clone an existing virtual machine Clone virtual machine to template Clone template to template Convert template to virtual machine This option guides you through creating a new virtual machine. You will be able to customize processors, memory, network connections, and storage. You will need to install a guest operating system after creation.

CANCEL BACK NEXT

h

New Virtual Machine

| 1 Select a creation type 2 Select a name and folder | Select a name and folder Specify a unique name and target location |
|--|---|
| 3 Select a compute resource 4 Select storage | Virtual machine name: asgard.nextron |
| 5 Select compatibility | Select a location for the virtual machine. |
| 6 Select a guest OS 7 Customize hardware | ∨ 🗗 vcenter |
| 8 Ready to complete | |
| | |
| | |
| | CANCEL BACK NEXT |
| | |

New Virtual Machine

- ✓ 1 Select a creation type
 Select a guest OS

 ✓ 2 Select a name and folder
 Choose the guest OS that will be installed on the virtual machine
- ✓ 3 Select a compute resource
- 4 Select storage
- 5 Select compatibility
 6 Select a guest OS

Guest OS Family: Linux

defaults for the operating system installation.

- 7 Customize hardware
- 8 Ready to complete

Guest OS Version: Debian GNU/Linux 10 (64-bit)

-

Identifying the guest operating system here allows the wizard to provide the appropriate

Compatibility: ESXi 6.7 and later (VM version 14)



New Virtual Machine

- ✓ 1 Select a creation type
- 2 Select a name and folder
- 3 Select a compute resource ✓ 4 Select storage

JUardu 1/14 ~ Vi

Configure the virtual machine hardware

Customize hardware

_

- 5 Select compatibility
- ✓ 6 Select a guest OS

| l | 7 | Custon | niz | e hardware | |
|---|---|--------|-----|------------|--|
| | 8 | Ready | to | complete | |

| Intual Hardware VM Options | |
|----------------------------|---|
| | ADD NEW DEVICE |
| > CPU * | |
| > Memory * | <u>16 GB ~</u> |
| > New Hard disk * | 100 <u>GB ~</u> |
| > New SCSI controller * | VMware Paravirtual |
| > New Network * | VM Network V |
| > New CD/DVD Drive * | Datastore ISO File V Connect |
| > Video card * | Specify custom settings \vee |
| VMCI device | Device on the virtual machine PCI bus that provides support for the virtual machine communication interface |
| > Other | Additional Hardware |

Compatibility: ESXi 6.5 and later (VM version 13)



Fig. 1: Create a new virtual Machine



Fig. 2: Starting the installation

| select a language | | | |
|-------------------------|------|--|-----------------------|
| Choose the language | to b | used for the installation process. The selected lang | uage will also be the |
| derault language for ti | neı | istalled system. | |
| chinese (simplified) | | 半×(周弥) | |
| Chinese (Traditional) | | 中文(繁糟) | |
| Croatian | | Hrvatski | |
| Czech | - | Čeština | |
| Danish | | Dansk | |
| Dutch | - | Nederlands | |
| Dzongkha | - | je n | |
| English | - | English | |
| Esperanto | - | Esperanto | |
| Estonian | - | Eesti | |
| Finnish | - | Suomi | |
| French | - | Français | |
| Galician | - | Galego | |
| Georgian | - | ქართული | |
| German | | Deutsch | |

| Odebian | |
|--|-------------------------------|
| Select your location | |
| The selected location will be used to set your time zone and also for example locale. Normally this should be the country where you live. | to help select the system |
| This is a shortlist of locations based on the language you selected. Choose "o | ther" if your location is not |
| Country, territory or area: | |
| Ireland | <u> </u> |
| Israel | |
| New Zealand | |
| Nigeria | |
| Philippines | |
| Seychelles | |
| Singapore | |
| South Africa | |
| United Kingdom | |
| United States | |
| Zambia | |
| Zimbabwe | |
| other | |
| | |
| Screenshot | Go Back Continue |

| Odebian |
|--|
| Select your location |
| The selected location will be used to set your time zone and also for example to help select the system locale. Normally this should be the country where you live. |
| Listed are locations for: Europe. Use the <go back=""> option to select a different continent or region if your location is not listed. <i>Country, tentroyr or area:</i></go> |
| Denmark Estonia Faroe Islands Finland I |
| France Georgia |
| Germany Gibraltar Greece Greenland |
| Guernsey Holy See (Varican City State) Hungary |
| Screenshot Go Back Continue |

| onfigure locales | | |
|---|--|-------|
| There is no locale de select your preferen is listed in the secor | fined for the combination of language and country you have selected. You car ice from the locales available for the selected language. The locale that will be d column. | n now |
| Country to base defau | It locale settings on: | |
| Canada | - en_CALOTE-8 | |
| Hong Kong | - en_HK.UTF-8 | |
| India | - en_IN | |
| Ireland | - en_IE.UTF-8 | |
| Israel | - en_IL | |
| New Zealand | - en_NZ.UTF-8 | |
| Nigeria | - en_NG | |
| Philippines | - en_PH.UTF-8 | |
| Seychelles | - en_SC.UTF-8 | |
| Singapore | - en_SG.UTF-8 | |
| South Africa | - en_ZA.UTF-8 | |
| United Kingdom | - en_GB.UTF-8 | |
| United States | - en_US.UTF-8 | |
| Zambia | - en_ZM | |
| Zimbabwe | - en ZW.UTF-8 | |

Fig. 3: Choosing language, location and locales







Fig. 5: Network Configuration – Enter the DNS server addresses



Fig. 6: Network Configuration - Enter the Gateway



Fig. 7: Network Configuration - Enter the Hostname

| debian | |
|---|---|
| Configure the network | |
| The domain name is the part of your Internet address to the right of your host name. It is often something that ends in .com, .net, .edu, or .org. If you are setting up a home network, you can make something up, but make sure you use the same domain name on all your computers. | |
| Domain name: | - |
| intranet.example.org | J |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Screenshot Go Back Continue | |

Fig. 8: Network Configuration - Enter the Domain name

Danger: Important: Make sure that the combination of hostname and domain creates an FQDN that can be resolved from the ASGARD Management Center(s) you want to connect with your Analysis Cockpit. If you've configured a FQDN (hostname + domain) that cannot be resolved, your ASGARDs will encounter an error during connection.

This is especially important since your Analysis Cockpit will create some certificates during the installation, which will not contain an IP Address as its Subject Alternative Name (SAN), but only the FQDN! You will not be able to connect your ASGARD Management Center with your Analysis Cockpit via IP Address.

2.4 Choosing a password

| Odebian |
|---|
| Set up users and passwords |
| A good password will contain a mixture of letters, numbers and punctuation and should be changed at regular intervals. Choose a password for the new user: |
| Show Password in Clear Please enter the same user password again to verify you have typed it correctly. |
| Re-enter password to verify: |
| Show Password in Clear |
| Screenshot Go Back Continue |

Fig. 9: Choosing a password for the nextron user

2.5 Partitioning of the Hard Disk

Warning: The Analysis Cockpit is intended to be installed with only one disk. Do not configure your server with multiple disks. The system won't configure additional disks. Make sure that your disk has the recommended size. See *Hardware Requirements* for more information.

Finally, confirm the settings, select "Yes" and click "Continue".



Fig. 10: Partition Disks – Write changes to disks

| Odebian | |
|---|--|
| Partition disks | |
| Note that all data on the disk you select will be erased, but not before you have confirmed that you really want to make the changes. Select disk to partition: | |
| SCSI3 (0,0,0) (sda) - 16.1 GB VMware, VMware Virtual S | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Screenshot Go Back Continue | |

Fig. 11: Partition disks - Select disk to partition

2.6 Proxy Configuration

If you are using a proxy to access the Internet, enter the proxy details in the next step. Please note, Internet connectivity is required for the next step – the installation of the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit service.

The proxy configuration supports unauthorized access and HTTP Auth, for example http://our-proxy.local:8080 and http://username:password@our-proxy.local:8000

Hint: Your Installer will finish now the installation. After the installation is done, you will be prompted to log in to your server.

| Odebian | |
|--|---------|
| Finish the installation | |
| If you need to use a HTTP proxy to access the outside world, enter the proxy information here. Otherwise, leave this blank. The proxy information should be given in the standard form of 'http://[luser][:pass]@]host[:port]/'. HTTP proxy information (blank for none): | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Screenshot | ontinue |

Fig. 12: Proxy Configuration

2.7 Changing the IP-Address

The Analysis Cockpit's IP-Address can be changed in **/etc/network/interfaces**. The IP is configured with the address variable.

nextron@asgard-ac:~\$ sudo vi /etc/network/interfaces

```
auto ens32
iface ens32 inet static
address 172.16.2.7/24
gateway 172.16.2.254
dns-nameservers 172.16.20.20
```

You can now restart networking.service to apply the changes.

nextron@asgard-ac:~\$ sudo systemctl restart networking.service

Important:

- The network interface might have a different name, so pay attention to the name (in this example ens32).
- If restarting the networking.service is throwing an error, you you can restart the server

The new IP can be applied with the command sudo systemctl restart networking

2.7.1 Verifying DNS Settings

To verify if ASGARD is using the correct DNS Server, you can inspect the file /etc/resolv.conf:

```
nextron@asgard-ac:~$ cat /etc/resolv.conf
search example.org
nameserver 172.16.200.2
```

If you see errors in this configuration, you can change it with the following command:

```
nextron@asgard-ac:~$ sudoedit /etc/resolv.conf
```

2.8 Install the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit Service

The Nextron Universal Installer is a web based installer which will guide you through the installation of our ASGARD products. The Nextron Universal Installer will install **one** of the following products on your server (this manual focuses on the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit):

- ASGARD Management Center; alternatively if your license permits:
 - ASGARD Broker
 - ASGARD Gatekeeper
 - ASGARD Lobby
- Master ASGARD
- ASGARD Analysis Cockpit; alternatively:
 - Elasticsearch Cluster Node for ASGARD Analysis Cockpit
- ASGARD Security Center, in the following variants:
 - ASGARD Security Center (Backend Only)
 - ASGARD Security Center (Frontend Only)
 - ASGARD Security Center (All-in-one, unrecommended)

Note: You can only install one product on one server, since the products are not designed to coexist on the same server. The exception being the ASGARD Security Center (All-in-one).

The installation takes roughly between 5-15 minutes, depending on your internet connection and the server you are installing the product on.

If you encounter problems during your installation, please see *Diagnostic Pack* for further instructions.

2.8.1 Requirements

The installation of the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit requires the following:

- A valid license file for the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit
- A configured FQDN (with some exceptions, see Valid FQDN)
- Internet access during installation (see *Connectivity Check*)

2.8.2 Installation

After the ISO installer is finished with the setup, you will be greeted at the console login prompt with the following message:

Follow the instructions and navigate to the webpage displayed on your console. You will most likely get a browser warning when you connect the first time to the page. This is due to the page using a self signed certificate, since it will only be used to install the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit. You can safely ignore this warning and proceed to the page.

You will be greeted with a small introduction as to what the Nextron Universal Installer is and what it does. After you click Next, you will be presented with the landing page of the Nextron Universal Installer.

Enter the Installation Code from the terminal and click Next. The Installer will now guide you through the installation.

Nextron Universal Installer

Ready to complete your setup? Get started by visiting https://asgard.local. To proceed, you'll need to enter the installation code Z9CU-6Q3H-VKZ4-X7YS in the Web UI.

asgardlogin: _



2.8.3 Connectivity Check

The Nextron Universal Installer will try to connect to our update server in order to download all the necessary packages once the installation starts. Make sure you can reach the update servers (see *Internet Access during Installation*).

Please configure your proxy settings if you are behind a proxy (see Proxy and NTP Settings).

2.8.4 Valid FQDN

The Nextron Universal Installer will prompt you to verify the FQDN which you configured during the installation of the base system (see *Network Configuration*). This is needed in order for your ASGARD Management Center to communicate via a HTTPs connection with the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit. The Management Center will use the FQDN of your Analysis Cockpit to connect to it and also verify the Common Name of the certificate to verify its authenticity. If there is a mismatch the Management Center will not be able to sync events with the Analysis Cockpit.

If the displayed FQDN is not correct, you can change it by clicking on the View FQDN Change Instructions button. This will open a dialog with instructions on how to change the FQDN of your server. Once you have changed the FQDN, you can continue with the installation.

| | | 3 | 4 | 5 | 66 | 7 |
|------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|
| Upload License | Test Connectivity | FQDN Acknowledgment | Select Product | | | |
| Important Note: The ser | ver's current <u>FQDN</u> is a | sgard.local @ | 1 | | | |
| Please be aware that on | ce an Nextron Systems | product has been installed, i | t is not possible to mo | odify the FQDN. In order to p | roceed with the install | ation, please write your |
| current FQDN below: | | | | | | |
| Please enter your current F0 | 2DN | | | | | |
| | | 2 | | | View | FQDN Change Instructions |
| | | | | | | Back Next |
| | | | | | | |

2.8.5 Proxy and NTP Settings

If you need to configure a proxy or change the NTP settings of your system, you can do so by clicking on the Settings button in the left menu of the Nextron Universal Installer.

If you configured a proxy during the ISO installation, those settings will be carried over into the Universal Installer. The settings will also be carried over into your ASGARD Analysis Cockpit. The same goes for NTP.

2.8.6 Diagnostic Pack

In case of errors or problems during the installation, you can download a diagnostic pack by navigating to the Diagnostics tab in the left menu of the Nextron Universal Installer. Click on the Download Diagnostic Pack button to download the diagnostic pack. You can then send the diagnostic pack to our support team for further analysis.

| Ν | UNIVERSAL INSTALLER | ≡ Settings > Proxy | | | |
|--------|------------------------|---------------------------|--------|---------------|-------------|
| * | Installation | Proxy | | | |
| •• | Settings ~ Proxy | Scheme | http ~ | | |
| | NTP | Host | | | |
| ი | Diagnostics | Port | | | |
| | | Proxy User | | | |
| | | Proxy Password | | | |
| | | | | 🔀 Unset Proxy | ♂ Set Proxy |
| | | | | | |

| N | UNIVERSAL Installer | ≡ Diagnostics | | | | |
|-------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| ᆇ | Installation | Diagnostics | | | | |
| *o | Settings ~ | | | | | |
| | Proxy | You have the possibility to download a diagnostics pack. The pack is a ZIP file containing the license, uploaded config, system information, installation log, UI log, system log, and kernel lo | nave the possibility to download a diagnostics pack. The pack is a ZIP file containing the selected product, uploaded se, uploaded config, system information, installation log, UI log, system log, and kernel log. In case you cannot | | | |
| | | proceed with the installation without the help of Nextron Support, please provide this file for the | troubleshooting and system | | | |
| ୍ୟ ମ | Diagnostics | analysis. | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | Download Diagnostics Pack | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

CHAPTER

THREE

ADMINISTRATION

This chapter assumes, that you have read the chapter Basic Concepts.

In order to configure the Analysis Cockpit for the first use, the following steps need to be done:

- License installation
- System update
- Set users and set user rights
- Define canned responses
- Decide about syslog forwarding
- Integrate your log source

These steps are described in detail in the following sections.

3.1 Connect to ASGARD Management Center

In order to receive log data from ASGARD Management Center systems, add them in the corresponding section in the system settings.

Settings > Link Products > Management Center

After you have connected the two components, all assets along with additional information from ASGARD will show up in the Assets section of your Analysis Cockpit.

3.2 Asset View

In most cases working with the Baselining section and the Cases section can be seen as the best practice approach for setting baselines and dealing with alerts and warnings.

However, in some cases it makes sense to change perspective and rather go for a host centric approach. The Analysis Cockpit will calculate numbers of lines in different case types (Incident, Suspicious, Anomaly, etc.) on a per host basis for a given time frame. Along with information from ASGARD on last scan dates, labels, host availability etc. this gives an entirely different perspective.

By using the "Asset View" you can e.g., easily answer questions like:

- Which systems appear most often in "Incident" cases?
- Which systems haven't reported a single event for more than a month?
- Which Domain Controllers have not been scanned yet?

| | ASGARD ANALYSIS COCKPIT | | ≡ Settings > Link Pro | ducto - Managament Can | tar | | | =5 ♠1 | 0 😋 2h | 💄 admir | n - C - |
|-----|--|-------|-----------------------|---|------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------|-------------|----------|-----------|----------------|
| Ø | System Status | | | Connect ASGARE |) Management Cente | er × | | | | | |
| 88 | Baselining | | ASGARDs | | | | | Connect ASG | ARD Mana | gement Ce | inter |
| ŵ | Events | | | Use the following One-Tir Center to this ASGARD Ar | ne Code to connect an ASGARI | D Management Code is valid until | | Show 2 | | a - | |
| • | Scans | | | 2023-11-10 10:29:18 and | can be only used for 1 ASGAR | D. | | 5110W 2 | | | |
| | 2000 C 20 | | Hostname | | | | Connected As | sets | | | |
| | Acceto | | | Copy to Clipboard | | | | | | | |
| - | Assels | | | 43 | | | | | | | |
| G | Reporting | | | , | | | | | | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | | | | | | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | | | | | | | | | | |
| ريخ | Settings | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Users and Roles | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Link Products | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Management Ca | enter | | | | | | | | | |
| | Security Center | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Management | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 1: Link ASGARD Management Center



Fig. 2: Asset View after a Successful Connection

• Which systems with IP addresses starting "192.168." appear in "Incident" cases?

In combination with the ASGARD Query and Labels, which are identical to your ASGARD, you can even narrow down the events by system group (e.g., Domain Controllers, or certain locations).

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | ≡ Assets | | | 📰 🌲 10 🛇 2h 💄 admin 👻 🕻 👻 |
|----|----------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | |
| | Baselining | 0S | Labels | Custom Labels | ASGARD |
| ŵ | Events | | | | |
| Ф | Scans | linux | robot-linux | | |
| 8 | Cases | | | | |
| = | Assets | | robot | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | testcase | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | | rpm-distro | | |
| i | Documentation | | | | |
| ير | Settings | Assets | | Add Custom La | els Remove Custom Labels Set Comment |
| | | Q labels contains "robot" AND not og = "windows" | | 🚯 🔒 🔍 Hide Deleted 🗸 1 - 25 of 44 | Show 25 🔹 1 2 🛓 C 🔹 🍁 |
| | | | | | |
| | | Hostname 🗢 OS 🗢 Additiona | Information = Labels = Custom Lab | bels ≑ Last seen ≑ Last scan completed ≑ Ever | its = Cases = Incident Cases = Sus |
| | | Search (1) Search (1) Search | (f) Search (f) Search | Search Search Search Search | rch (1) Search (1) Search (1) Sea |
| | | → linux | | a few 2023-10-20 15:33:25 814 seconds ago | |
| | | | | | |
| | | → linux | | a few 2023-11-09 15:36:18 558 | <u>1</u> <u>3</u> 0 <u>1</u> |
| | | | | seconds ago | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

Fig. 3: Filtering within the Assets view

3.3 Configure Canned Recommendations

Canned recommendations are predefined actions that can be used within a case. The recommendations are fully configurable and are aimed to facilitate choice making regarding the action that should be applied for a specific case. There is no need to set this up, but we suggest doing some planning and provide recommendations that are suitable for your organization. Some recommendations such as Verify Legitimacy, Provide Sample File / Sample Directory, Run full Antivirus Scan are already generated by default. You are free to use, modify or delete them. Recommendations can also be added by any user from within a case.

3.4 Syslog Forwarding

The Rsyslog tab in the Settings menu allows forwarding of all incoming THOR events, along with all audit logs and all other Cockpit related logs.

Please note, that forwarding THOR Logs through syslog might lead to a certain loss of information as THOR events might exceed syslog length restrictions.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | ≡ | E Settings > Case Management > Recommendations | | | | | |
|-----|----------------------------|---|---|---|--------------------------|---------|--|--|
| Ø | System Status | | | | _ | | | |
| | Baselining | | Recommendations Create Reco | | | | | |
| ŵ | Events | | | | 1 - 10 of 10 Show 25 - 1 | C - 💠 | | |
| ¢ | Scans | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | Name 🌩 | Description | \$ | Actions | | |
| | Assets | | Search (1) | Search | 6 | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | Custom Recommendation (see text) | See custom recommendations in the assessment. | | | | |
| • | Sandhov | | Remove Vulnerability | | | | | |
| _ | | | Investigate Actions | and containment activities. | 2 🗎 | | | |
| i | Documentation | | Plan Remediation | Involve CERT team. | Ľ 🗎 | | | |
| رعر | Settings | | Provide Forensic Image Provide forensic image. | | | | | |
| | Users and Roles | | Reinstall / Reset System | Format system disk and reinstall system. | | | | |
| | Licensing | | Run full Antivirusscan Run antivirus scan. | | | | | |
| | Updates | | Remove File from System Remove file from system. Consider using ASGARD Response Control option. | | | | | |
| | Link Products | | Provide Samplefile / Sampledirectory Provide files for further analysis. Consider using THORs BIFROST option. | | | | | |
| | Case Management | | Verify Legitimacy | Check wheather this artifact is legitimate on this system | | C | | |
| | Case Status | | | | | | | |
| | Recommendations | | | | | | | |
| | Notifications | | | | | | | |
| | Notifications | | | | | | | |
| | Case Templates | | | | | | | |



| | ASGARD | | ≡ Settings > P | ovolori | | | | Đ | 4 10 | 🕑 2h 💄 ad | min - C- |
|-----|-----------------|--|----------------|--|----------------------------|---|-------|-------|-------------|----------------|-----------------|
| Ø | System Status | | | Create Rsyslog Forwarding × | | | | | | | |
| 88 | Baselining | | Rsyslog Forwa | Tura | | | | | Creat | e Rsyslog Forw | varding |
| ÷ | Events | | | туре | Analysis Cockpit Log | - | | | | 1 C' | \$ |
| Φ | Scans | | Туре | Protocol Analysis Cockpit Log Analysis Cockpit Audit Log Target Hostname | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | | | Analysis Cockpit Audit Log | | ⇒ Pro | tocol | | Actions | |
| | Assets | | | Target Port 🗈 (optional) | Enter port | | | | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | | Create | | | | | | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | | | Create | | | | | | | |
| E | Documentation | | | | | | | | | | |
| ىكى | Settings | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Users and Roles | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Link Products | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Management | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Rsyslog | | | | | | | | | | |
| | TLS | | | | | | | | | | |



3.5 TLS Certificate Installation

Instead of using the pre-installed self-signed TLS Certificate, users should upload their own TLS Certificate for AS-GARD. This will avoid browser warnings when navigating to your Analysis Cockpit's web interface.

In order to achieve the best possible compatibility with the most common browsers, we recommend using the system's FQDN in both fields Common Name AND Hostnames.

Navigate to the TLS section via the Settings menu. You can click Generate CSR to open the following modal.



Fig. 6: Generate a Certificate Signing Request (CSR)

Hint: Please note that generating a CSR on the command line is not supported.

The generated CSR can be used to generate a TLS Certificate. Subsequently, this TLS Certificate can be uploaded in the in the same section of your Analysis Cockpit.



Fig. 7: Upload a TLS Certificate
3.6 Configure LDAP

The LDAP tab in the Users and Roles section lets you configure an LDAP server and define mappings between LDAP groups and roles within the Analysis Cockpit.

| | ASGARD analysis cockpit | \equiv Settings > Users and Roles > | LDAP | | | | 🛋 🌲 10 😋 2 | n 💄 admin 👻 | (- |
|----|----------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------|--------|---------------|----------------|---------------|------------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | LDAP Settings | | LDAP Roles | | | | Add LDAP Role | |
| ŵ | Events | Host | | | No res | ults found Sh | ow 25 👻 1 | C • 💠 | : |
| Ф | Scans | Port | | LDAP Group 🗘 | Role | Riahts 🖨 | Restrictions = | Actions | |
| 8 | Cases | Connection Security | StartTI S | Search 🚯 | Search | Search - | | | |
| | Assets | connection decumy | StattES | No results | | | | | |
| Ģ | Reporting | Test Connection | Test Connection | | | | | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | Rase G | | | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | | | | | | | | |
| عر | Settings | Bind User 🚯 | | | | | | | |
| | Users and Roles | Bind Password 🚯 | | | | | | | |
| | Users | | | | | | | | |
| | Roles | Test Bindings | Test Bindings | | | | | | |
| | LDAP | Use recommended filters | | | | | | | |
| | Licensing | 11 1 79 • | | | | | | | |
| | Updates | User Fliter 🔹 | | | | | | | |
| | Link Products | Group Filter 🚯 | | | | | | | |
| | Case Management | User UID 🚯 | | | | | | | |
| | Rsyslog | Group GID 🔹 | cn | | | | | | |
| | TLS | Test lists and Oscilla | | | | | | | |
| | SMTP | Test Users and Groups | Test User Test Passwo' Test Login | | | | | | |
| | System | Update LDAP Config | | | | | | | |
| | Backup | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 8: Configure LDAP

3.7 Configure Notifications

As described in *Cases and Log Processing*, the Analysis Cockpit is able to forward logs to a SIEM system in case this particular log line was added automatically to a case with the type "Incident".

The Notifications section in the Case Management settings allow you to define custom notifications for event assignments (Event Assignment Notifications). It is recommended to at least configure an Event Assignment Notification for events that get added to existing **Incident** cases.

Additionally, notifications can be defined for changes to cases (Case Change Notifications), so Level 2 analysts can get notified if a case gets added to their in-queue (e.g., Finished Level 1).

The notification itself can be a syslog message or an email. In order to use email for notifications you have to setup an email account in the Mail Account Tab. Additionally webhook support has been added to facilitate interfacing to services like Slack.

Note: The Analysis Cockpit will collect all triggering events and send only one email every 15 minutes. Syslog and Webhooks are triggered in real time for every single event.

Additionally, you can see the notifications in the top right corner (bell icon) and inspect them. You will see all Unread notifications, which can be Acknowledged by selecting one or more notification and clicking Acknowledge. Only

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | | ≡ Settings > Ca | ase Manage | ement > Noti | fications | | | | | | | = 10 | 🕑 2h | 💄 admin | ۰ (۰ |
|---|----------------------------|---|---------------------|------------|---------------------|------------|-----|--------------|---------------------------------------|----------------|---------|-----------------------------|-------------------|--------|--------------|------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | | Notifications | | | | | | | | Crea | ate Case Change Notificatio | n Create Event As | signme | nt Notificat | lion |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | | | | 6 of 6 Show 25 - | | C | * |
| ¢ | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| E | Cases | | Туре | Name | | Case Types | ¢ C | ase Status ≑ | GUI Notification 🗘 | Syslog Targets | Email T | argets 🗧 | Webhook URL | | Actions | |
| | Assets | | | | 6 | | 6 | | | Search | Search | 6 | | 8 | | |
| | Penorting | | Event | | | Unknown | |)pen | Yes | | | | | | C | |
| | Condhow | | | | | | | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | | | <i>14</i> = | |
| v | Sanubox | | Case Change | | | Unknown | Ľ | Jpen | Yes | | | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | | Case Change | | | Incident | | | Yes | | _ | | | | 2 | |
| æ | Settings | | Event | | | Suspicious | | | Yes | | - | | | | C 🔋 | |
| | Users and Roles | | Assignment | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Licensing | | Event Assignment | | | Incident | | | Yes | | - | | | | 2 | |
| | Updates | | Case Change | | | Incident | | | Yes | | - | | _ | | C 🕯 | |
| | Link Products | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Management | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Recommendation | • | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Netifications | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Notifications | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Templates | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 9: Case Management - Notifications

Unread notifications will show up in the top right status bar of the Cockpit.



Fig. 10: UI Notification Bell

3.7.1 Configure Event Assignment Notifications

To configure log notifications, click the Add Event Assignment Notification button in the Notifications section of the Case Management menu. This leads you to a form that allows you to set a name for your notification, the notification type (syslog, email, webbook or notification within the Analysis Cockpit) and the condition that will trigger your notification.

3.7.2 Configure Case Change Notifications

To configure Case Change Notifications, click the Add Case Change Notification button in the Notifications section of the Case Management menu. This leads you to a form that allows setting a name for your notification, the notification type (syslog, email, webhook or notification within the Analysis Cockpit) and the condition that will trigger your notification.

| G | N | otifications × | | | | | | | _ • | , , | × |
|---|------|---|-----|-----------|-------|----------------------|------|---------|-------|------------|---|
| ľ | Noti | fications | | | | (| Ackn | owledge | Unrea | ad | |
| | Unr | read 🗸 | | | 1 - 1 | 10 of 10 Show 100 - | | 1 C | • | ¢ | |
| | | Subject | | Time | | Attachments | | Acknowl | edged | | |
| | | Search | 8 | Search | | Search | 8 | Search | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: 1 new Events in Case #132 (Incident): "Hotfixes Condition" | | 2023-11-(|)9 | | | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: New Case #1220 (Incident): "passwd fi | le" | 2023-11-0 |)9 | | | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: New Case #1220 (Incident): "passwd fi | le" | 2023-11-0 |)9 | | | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: Updated Case Status #293 (Unknown): | | 2023-08-1 | 14 | events-case-293.txt | | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: 2 new Events in Case #132 (Incident): "Hotfixes Condition" | | 2023-08-1 | 11 | new-events-case-132 | txt | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: New Case #1216 (Unknown): "Service that is not owned by root user (often found when functio users for the services are used)" | n | 2023-08-0 | 08 | events-case-1216.txt | | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: 2 new Events in Case #132 (Incident): "Hotfixes Condition" | | 2023-08-0 |)4 | new-events-case-132 | txt | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: 1 new Events in Case #132 (Incident): "Hotfixes Condition" | | 2023-08-0 |)4 | new-events-case-132 | txt | No | | | |
| | | Analysis Cockpit: 2 new Events in Case #132 (Incident): "Hotfixes Condition" | | 2023-08-0 |)4 | new-events-case-132. | txt | No | | | |

Fig. 11: UI Notifications

| | ASGARD ANALYSIS COCKPIT | | | a Managamant 🕆 Natifications | | | = 10 | | 💄 admin | |
|----|----------------------------|-----|---------------|---------------------------------|--|-------------------|------------------|--------|---------------|-----|
| Ø | System Status | | | Create Event Assignment N | Notification | | | | | |
| 88 | Baselining | | Notifications | | | ange Notification | Create Event Ass | ignmen | t Notificatio | ion |
| ŵ | Events | | | Name 🕚 | | | | 16 | 2). | ż |
| ¢ | | | | GUI Notification 3 | | | | | | |
| 8 | | | Туре 🗘 | Syslog Targets 💿 (optional) | | | Webhook URL | | lctions | |
| 88 | Assets | | | Email Targets 🚯 (optional) | | | | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | | Wahhaak Tarret UDI 🛖 (antional) | | | | | 2 🔳 | |
| Ð | Sandbox | | Case Change | | Enter Wednook uri | | | | C î | |
| E | Documentation | | | Webhook Body 💿 (optional) | | | | | C 🕯 | |
| يو | Settings | | | | \checkmark Show webhook body information | | | | C 🕯 | |
| | | | | Case Types 🚯 (optional) | Select case types | | | | | |
| | | | | Case Statue 🔿 (antianal) | | | | | 2 🔳 | |
| | | | | | | | | | C 🕯 | |
| | | | | Create | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | s (| 1 | | | | | | | |
| | Notifications | | ~ | | | | | | | |
| | Case Templates | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 12: Event Assignment Notification

| | ASGARD analysis cockpit | Ξ | ≡ Settings > Case Ma | anagement > Notificati | JNO | | 1 | | |
|-----|----------------------------|------|----------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|--|-----------|-----------------|------------------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | Create Case Change Notific | cation | | | |
| 88 | Baselining | | Notifications | | Nama 🔿 | | | Create Case Cha | nge Notification |
| ŵ | | | | | | | | 2 | |
| ¢ | | | | | GUI Notification (1) | | | | |
| 8 | | | Type 🌻 | Name | Syslog Targets 🚯 (optional) | | I Targets | | Webhook UF |
| | | | | | Email Targets 🚯 (optional) | | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | Event Assignment | | Webbook Target URL 🙃 (optional) | | | | |
| Ð | Sandbox | | | | | | | | |
| E | Documentation | | Event Assignment | | Webhook Body 🚯 (optional) | | | | |
| يو. | Settings | | | | | \checkmark Show webhook body information | | | |
| | | | | | Case Types 🚯 (optional) | | | | |
| | | | | | Case Status ((ontional) | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | Create | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | - | | | | | | |
| | | ns 🤇 | 1 | | | | | | |
| | Notifications | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Templates | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |



3.8 Log File Import

3.8.1 Basic Concepts

In general, all logs show up in the Events section. Additionally, all Alerts and Warnings that are not matching a particular case will show up in the Baselining section. Notices and informational events will NOT show up in the Baselining Section as they match the predefined default cases for these events.

All logs are tagged with a specific scan id – regardless of how the log was integrated. This enables filtering down to all logs contained in a specific scan.

If ASGARD Management Center is connected and the events was generated as part of a group scan the event is also tagged with this particular group scan id. This allows for filtering down to all logs a particular group scan.

Assets are identified through the asset ID that was issued by ASGARD Management Center during the setup of the ASGARD Agent. If this ID is not available to the Analysis Cockpit (e.g. log has been uploaded manually or sent through syslog) the hostname (NOT the FQDN) will be used instead.

3.8.2 Direct Integration with ASGARD Management Center

If the Analysis Cockpit is linked to one or more ASGARD Management Centers, all THOR logs get integrated automatically and will show up in the Baselining and/or the Events section. Aurora Events will also automatically show up.

To see how to connect an ASGARD Management Center with your Analysis Cockpit, follow the instructions in the chapter *Connect to ASGARD Management Center*.

You can retrieve old scans performed by ASGARD Management Center before you connected it to Analysis Cockpit using the Request Events button in the Scans section.



Fig. 14: Request Events from Scan

3.8.3 Syslog Input

Another way to import log data is by using SYSLOG messages.

The ANALYSIS COCKPIT listens on port 514/udp and 514/tcp for incoming log data and all logs will show up in the Baselining and/or the Events section.

Incoming syslog messages get assigned to single scan using the "ScanID" value that's unique in each scan.

3.8.4 File Import Through Web-Based GUI

Alternatively, logs can be uploaded through the web-based interface by selecting the particular log file (must be the .txt format, html import is not supported) and clicking the Upload Scans button within the Scans section.

Note: You can upload one or more THOR scans in one or more text files. The Analysis Cockpit will automatically generate scans in the database, based on the scanned assets and the SCAN_IDs in the events. Only .txt, .log, .txt.gz and .log.gz files are supported.



Fig. 15: Upload logs using the web-based interface

After a successful upload, the scans should appear in the list below.

Important: If you can not see events in the Events or Baselining views, please make sure that you've selected the correct time frame as filter. Often times manually uploaded scans happened days or weeks before the upload. The log

data gets indexed with the timestamp of their creation and not the import, and can therefore be hidden in the default view.

After the upload, you're able to link the recently uploaded scans with an existing or new group scan. You can also unlink scans from a group scan.

| | ASGARD Analysis dockpit | ≡ So | cans > | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1 1 | 0 © 2h | 💄 admir | n - (- |
|----------|-----------------------------|------|----------------|--------|---|--------|---|---------|----|---------------|--------------|------------------|---------------|---------------------------------------|---|---|----------------|----------|--------------|-------------------------|-------------|------------|-----------|-----------|----------------|
| 80 11 | System Status Baselining | Sta | atus | | | | | | | Asset | | | | Started | | | | | Duration | | | | | | |
| ŵ | Events | 2 | | 10 j | | | | | | | | | | 0 | 1 10 L L. | | | | 0 | | | | | | |
| Ф | Scans | Con | npleted ror | | | | | | | | | | | 2023-10-20 2023-10-21 | 3 01:30:44 - 2023-11 3 01:30:44 - 2023-11 | 0-23 01:30:44 0-25 13:28:53 | | | 00:00:51 - 0 | 0:00:52 | | | | | |
| | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2023-10-25 2023-10-28 2023-10-3 | 5 13:28:53 - 2023-10 8 01:27:02 - 2023-11 9 12:25:11 - 2023-1 | 0-28 01:27:02 0-30 13:25:11 1-22 01:32:20 | | | 00:00:55 - 0 | 10:01:07 00:01:52 | | | | | |
| _ | Group Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2023-11-03 | 2 01:23:20 - 2023-1 | 1-04 13:21:29 | | | 00:04:49 - | 00:16:25 | | | | | |
| - | Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2023-11-04 2023-11-01 | 6 13:21:29 - 2023-11 7 01:19:38 - 2023-11 | 1-07 01:19:38 1-09 13:17:47 | | | 01:01:57 - | 1:01:57 04:00:42 | | | | | |
| | Assets | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | <u> </u> | | | | | | |
| 0 | Sandhox | Sca | ans | | | | | | | | | | | | | Upload Scans | s Link with Gr | roup Sca | in Unlink fr | <mark>im Group (</mark> | scan Requ | uest E | vents | Delete Ew | rents |
| E | Documentation | 6 | ASG | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Last | 30 Davs 🗸 | 1 - 16 of | 16. Show 21 | 50 - | | c • | • |
| ¥ | Settings | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | ASGARD | ÷ | Hostnam | me | Log Requested | Log Received | l 🗢 Log Received | d Error 🗘 Sta | atus ≑ | Started 🗢 | Completed ≑ | Duration | ÷ F | ivents | ¢ Cas | es | | ncident (| Cases | \$ |
| | | | | search | 0 | | | | - |) Search | | - Search | - St | earch - | Search - | Search - | Search | 0 | Search | 6 Se | | 4 | | | 0 |
| | | | Ľ | 68962 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | No | | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | 03:18:12 | | 96 | | | | | | |
| | | F | 21 | 68961 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | No | 0 | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | 03:10:33 | 9 | 2 <u>16</u> | | | | | | |
| | | | - 1 | 68960 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | No | 0 | ompleted | | | | | 421 | | | | | | |
| | | | 2 16 | 68959 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | М | 0 | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | 02:32:02 | | <u>1692</u> | | | | | | |
| | | | ☑ 16 | 68958 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | No | <u></u> | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | 02:30:55 | | <u>79</u> | | | | | | |
| | | | 216 | 68957 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | NO | 6 | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | 02:14:09 | 2 | 9 <u>15</u> | | | | | | |
| | | | 1 1 | 68956 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | No | <u></u> | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | 00:50:42 | | 452 | | | | | | |
| | | | | 68955 | | | | | | Yes | Yes | No | | ompleted | 2023-11-09 | 2023-11-09 | | 6 | <u>18</u> | | | | | | |
| 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 16: Link/Unlink scans with an existing or new group scan

3.8.5 File Import Using the Command Line

This option can be helpful in an environment where you scan without ASGARD Management Center but want to automate analysis by dropping the log data into that import directory.

Log files can be imported by placing the files in the following directory:

/var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events

Make sure that user and group of these files is set to cockpit.

You can change the owner and group manually by using:

nextron@asgard-ac:~\$ sudo chown cockpit:cockpit <file>

Successfully imported files get a new extension named .ok.

When the file is moved to that folder with the wrong permissions, Analysis Cockpit tries to handle these situations in the appropriate way. If the Analysis cockpit had read access but no rights to write/delete/rotate/rename the file, the file gets blacklisted in memory and will not be imported as long as the service doesn't get restarted. A restart of the service would cause the service to re-index the log data placed in that folder.

Important: We highly recommend not to directly copy (scp, rsync) files into that folder, but use a staging folder in which you set the right permissions and then copy the files to the import folder.

Copying files directly to that folder has many problematic side effects, e.g. files partly composed of binary zeros because the file transfer is still in progress.

3.9 Sandbox Integration

You can configure your Analysis Cockpit to upload files to a local sandbox. Currently you can use CAPEv2 (recommended) or Cuckoo.

Additionally, you can look at the following python file and write your own connector, for a different sandbox, if you need to: /usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector/capev2.py

Note: This section only focuses on the integration of your Analysis Cockpit with an existing sandbox. We will not cover how to set up the sandbox. Since the CPAEv2 Sandbox is an open source tool provided by the broader community, we encourage you to read through the extensive documentation to get an overview of the setup process.

3.9.1 Analysis Cockpit Sandbox Configuration

In the web view of your Analysis Cockpit, navigate to Sandbox > Sandboxes. Click Add Sandbox in the top right corner. Keep the Name short and add a proper Description.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | | Sandhavae | | | | | | 🌲 10 🕚 2h | ı 💄 admin 🗝 🕻 👻 |
|-----|----------------------------|---------------|------------------------|-------------------|----|---|----------------|-------------|------------|-----------------|
| Ø | System Status | | Add Sandbox | | | × | | | | |
| AA | Baselining | Sandboxe | Name | Enter name | | | | | | Add Sandbox |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | c 🔁 🔹 |
| Φ | Scans | | Description (optional) | Enter description | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | ID Occursh | Automatic Mode 🗈 | | | | n ⊽ | Last Seen = | Disabled = | Actions |
| | Assets | | Add | | | | | | Search 👻 | |
| Ģ | Reporting | | | | Na | | | | Yes | |
| ¢, | Sandbox | | | | | | | | Ves | |
| | Sandboxes | | | | | | | | | |
| L | Files | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 3 | | | | | | | Yes | |
| | Documentation | | | | | | | | Yes | |
| ىكى | Settings | | | | | | | | Yes | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 17: Adding a new Sandbox

If you wish to enable automatic scanning for uploaded files (Bifrost), you can do so by checking the Automatic Mode. Once you click Add the page will display an API token. Copy this token, we will need it later.

Connect to your Analysis Cockpit via SSH and follow the steps below.

Change the user to the root user:





nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudo su [sudo] password for nextron:
root@cockpit:~#

We change into the configuration directory of the Analysis Cockpit:

root@cockpit:~# cd /usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector root@cockpit:/usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector#

Here you can find multiple files and folders. The .py and .ini files each represent the type of sandbox you want to integrate with. In this example, we will configure the CAPEv2 sandbox with our Analysis Cockpit.

```
root@cockpit:/usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector# ls -lA
total 40
drwxr-xr-x 2 root root 4096 16. Jan 11:20 analysiscockpit
-rw-r--r-- 1 root root 252 16. Jan 10:26 capev2.ini
-rwxr-xr-x 1 root root 9834 16. Jan 10:26 capev2.py
-rw-r--r-- 1 root root 277 16. Jan 10:26 cuckoo.ini
-rw-r--r-- 1 root root 9867 16. Jan 10:26 cuckoo.py
drwxr-xr-x 2 root root 4096 16. Jan 11:20 sandboxapi
```

Here we have two files which are of relevance to us:

- capev2.ini
 - This holds the configuration for both the sandbox and your Analysis Cockpit
- capev2.py
 - This has the systemd configuration to create the actual service on the system (we don't change anything in here)

Change the capev2.ini with a text editor. The important lines, which need to be changed accordingly to your environment, are marked:

root@cockpit:/usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector# nano capev2.ini

```
1 [DEFAULT]
2 debug = yes
3 tmp_directory = /usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/capev2
4 
5 [capev2]
```

(continues on next page)

(continued from previous page)

```
protocol = http
6
   host = 192.168.0.50
7
   port = 8000
8
   token = <your CAPEv2 API token here>
   verifv = no
10
11
   all = yes
   html = yes
12
13
   [analysis-cockpit]
14
   host = localhost:443
15
   apikey = <your API Key here>
16
  verify = no
17
```

For lines 6-10, please fill the information accordingly. host is the IP/FQDN of your sandbox. port is the listening port of the web interface of your sandbox. token is the API token generated in the user management of your sandbox. verify is for verification of the TLS certificate (if you don't use TLS or don't want to verify the certificate, set this option to no).

For lines 16-17 you have to set the apikey of your Analysis Cockpit (see "Add Sandbox" step in the beginning of this section) and verify, which can be set to no; this will verify the TLS certificate.

Save your files after you made your changes.

Now you have to create a new directory and give the analysiscockpit user permission:

We need to create a systemd service file in order to run the CAPEv2 connector on your Analysis Cockpit. Below you can find a predefined service file which we will use:

```
[Unit]
1
   Description=CAPEv2 Sandbox Connector
2
   After=network.target
3
4
   [Service]
5
   ExecStart=/usr/bin/python3 /usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector/capev2.py
6
   Restart=on-failure
7
   User=analysiscockpit
8
   Group=analysiscockpit
9
   SyslogIdentifier=capev2_connector
10
11
   [Install]
12
   WantedBy=multi-user.target
13
```

Now we run the following command and paste the content from the output earlier into it:

The file should now look like this:

root@cockpit:/usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector# cat /lib/systemd/
→system/capev2-connector.service
[Unit]
Description=CAPEv2 Sandbox Connector
After=network.target

[Service] ExecStart=/usr/bin/python3 /usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector/capev2.py Restart=on-failure User=analysiscockpit Group=analysiscockpit SyslogIdentifier=capev2_connector

[Install] WantedBy=multi-user.target

root@cockpit:/usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector#

Now that the systemd service file is created, we need to activate it. Run the following command:

root@cockpit:/usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/connector# systemctl daemon-→reload && systemctl enable capev2-connector && systemctl start capev2-connector Created symlink /etc/systemd/system/multi-user.target.wants/capev2-connector.service → / →lib/systemd/system/capev2-connector.service.

The connection to your sandbox should work now. You can see the capev2.log for debug output and troubleshooting:

```
root@cockpit:~# tail /usr/share/asgard-analysis-cockpit/sandbox/capev2.log
22-11-15 12:07:46 DEBUG: Starting new HTTPS connection (1): localhost:443
22-11-15 12:07:46 DEBUG: https://localhost:443 "GET /api/sandboxes/a/reports/pending?
→limit=10&offset=0 HTTP/1.1" 200 13
22-11-15 12:07:46 DEBUG: no pending references found
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: Starting new HTTP connection (1): 192.168.0.50:8000
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: http://192.168.0.50:8000 "GET /apiv2/cuckoo/status/ HTTP/1.1"
→200 289
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: Starting new HTTPS connection (1): localhost:443
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: https://localhost:443 "GET /api/sandboxes/a/get-sha256s-without-
→report?limit=10 HTTP/1.1" 200 13
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: Starting new HTTPS connection (1): localhost:443
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: https://localhost:443 "GET /api/sandboxes/a/reports/pending?
→limit=10&offset=0 HTTP/1.1" 200 13
22-11-15 12:08:46 DEBUG: no pending references found
root@cockpit:~#
```

3.9.2 Analysis Cockpit Sandbox Usage

Once your sandbox is set up and running, you can see the status of it in the sandbox view (Last Seen):

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | Ξ | ≡ Sandbox⇒ | > Sa | ndboxes | | | | | | | ♠10 😋 2h | Ladmin - Cr |
|---------|----------------------------|----|------------|------|---------|---|-------------|---|--------------------|--------------|-------------|------------|-----------------------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | | Sandboxes | | | | | | | | | | Add Sandbox |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | | 7 of 7 Show | 25 🕶 1 | C • 🌣 |
| Ф | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ۳ | Cases | | ID | • | Name | | Description | | Automatic Mode 🕒 🗢 | First Seen = | Last Seen = | Disabled = | Actions |
| - | Assets | | Search | 8 | Search | 8 | Search | 0 | Search - | Search - | Search - | Search - | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | 7 | | | | | | No | | | No | 0 |
| • | Sandhay | | 6 | | | | | | No | | | Yes | ✓ |
| | Sallubox | Ľ. | | | | | | | No | | | Yes | ✓ |
| | Sandboxes | | 4 | | | | | | No | | | Yes | ✓ |
| | Files | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Reports | | | | | | | | _ | | | | |
| | Documentation | | 3 | | | | | | No | | | Yes | ~ |
| _ | 0-11/ | | 2 | | | | | | No | | | Yes | ✓ |
| <i></i> | Settings | | | | | | | | No | | | Yes | ~ |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

In the Files view you can see previously analyzed files or upload files for analysis by yourself:

| | ASGARD analysis cockpit | | ndbox - Eilee | | | | | | 20 🜲 10 | 😋 2h L admi | n - C - |
|----|----------------------------|-----|-----------------|----------------|--------------------|-------------------------|----|--------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|
| Ø | System Status | | Upload Custom | File | | ; | × | | | | |
| AA | Baselining | San | dbox Filo(c) | Decision N | | | | | | Upload Custom | File |
| ŵ | Events | | File(s) | You can upload | one or more cus | stom files that then ca | | | Show 25 | 1 C 🔻 | \$ |
| Φ | Scans | | | be analyzed by | the connected sa | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | Nam Upload | | | | | eived Last 👻 | Origin 🌲 | Deleted 🗢 | Acti |
| | Assets | | Seat | 050.0 | | 0000 00 07 | | arch - | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | events.template | 320 B | | 2023-03-07 | | | File Upload | | <u> </u> |
| Ø | Sandbox | | | 3 B | | 2022-08-30 | | 22-08-30 | | | |
| | Files | | 10.txt | 3 B | | 2022-07-18 | | | | | |
| A | Reports Documentation | | 9.txt | 2 B | (custom upload) | 2022-05-16 | | 22-05-16 | | | |
| بو | Settings | | | 4 KB | UNKNOWN | | | 22-05-16 | | | |
| ~ | oettingo | | | 6 B | UNKNOWN | 2021-01-13 | | 22-05-16 | | | |
| | | 4 | (missing) | 5 KB | UNKNOWN | 2021-07-06 | 20 | 22-05-16 | Rifrost | No | Ţ |

Note: If you did not enable **auto mode** of your configured sandbox, you have to manually add the file for scanning in here. You can do this by pressing the Scan file with sandbox button to the right of your file.

After your file has been uploaded, you have to wait until your sandbox is finished with analyzing the file. Change to the Reports view to see the status of the files.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | ≡ | E Sar | ndbox > Report | s | | | | | | | | | | 4 10 | 🕑 2h | 💄 a | dmin | • (• |
|----|----------------------------|---|-------|-----------------------|---|------------|-----------|---|---------|------|---|------------|---|--------|-------------|------|-------|------|------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | | Sand | dbox Reports | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | | | 1 - 1 of | | Show 2 | 25 - | | C' | | * |
| Ф | Scans | | | 0 II N | | . | | | o | | | . . | | | | | | | |
| E | Cases | | | | - | Prioritize | Created | | Started | look | | Status | - | Inrea | at Score | • • | Actio | ns | |
| - | Assets | | | sandbox tost | 0 | No | 2021-10-2 | 7 | | | 2 | | | n | | | <∽ | J B | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | | sallubox_test | | | 2021-10-2 | | | | | | | U | | | 8 | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Sandboxes | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Files | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Reports | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| يو | Settings | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Once the file was analyzed and the reports are ready, you will see that the status of the file changed to SUCCESS and the buttons REPORT, JSON and HTML can be clicked. You can now download the report.

3.10 API

The API documentation has been integrated into the web interface. You can find it in the Documentation menu.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | | | 🔜 🌲 10 🔿 2h 💄 admin 👻 🕻 👻 |
|-------------|--------------------------------|---|--|---------------------------|
| 0 | System Status | | Analysis Cockpit 3 API | |
| ŵ | Events | | [Base URL: / Api] This ani allows you to query information like rases assets or scans, create reports, manage cases, connect sandhoves and more | |
| ≎ ∎ | Scans Cases | | Once you received your APIKey in the User Settings section, you have to pass the APIKey via http header, e.g. 'Authorization: 123' | |
| 8 ¢ 0 | Assets Reporting Sandbox | | Schemes HTTPS | Authorize |
| 8 | Documentation Manuals | ¥ | Assets | ^ |
| ع | API Documentation Settings | | GET /assets/search Query assets. | ~ ≞ |
| | | | Cases | ~ |
| | | | Events | ~ |
| | | | GET /events/search Query events. | ~ ≙ |

Fig. 19: API Documentation

CHAPTER

FOUR

BASIC CONCEPTS

In this chapter we will go over the basic concepts of your Analysis Cockpit. We explain how Events and Cases are handled, and how to establish a streamlined workflow within your Analysis Cockpit.

4.1 Events

All events that have been stored in your Analysis Cockpit – regardless if they are assigned to a particular case or not – are displayed in the section Events. This section can be seen as your threat hunting pool. The section provides powerful filtering options. The Events Section is split into the different sources of your Events:

- THOR Events
- Aurora Events
- Log Watcher Events (deprecated)

| | ASGARD ANALYSIS COCKPIT | Events > THOR Even | ls | | | | | | | | | | | | =\$ 18 | 🕑 2h | 💄 admin | - (- |
|---|----------------------------|--|------------------------|-------------|------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------|------------------|---|-------------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|--------|--------------|------------------|------|
| ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | auto_case_id + | | % C3 | HOSTNAME - | | | 53 | MODULE - | | | 0 | MESSAGE - | | | | | 10 |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | THOR Events | SBAcnJjoWe-U S1UVAu-cF8_M | | | | | | | ServiceCheck Init | | | | Service entry Process info | _ | | | | |
| | Aurora Events | SE9dc1dsqTdk ScPIT5mP7uN0 | | | | | | | ProcessCheck RegistryHive | | | | Scanning registry Hotfix | | | | | |
| ¢ | Scans | S06s-105E79A | | | | | | | HotfixCheck | | | | At Job detected | | | | | |
| E | Cases | FILF. | | | labala. | | | | MATCHED 1 | | | | DEACON 1 | | | | | |
| = | Assets | FILE | | | labels • | | | | MAICHED_I V | | | | REASON_1 * | | | | | |
| e | Reporting | /etc/crontab | 100 1K | | at-enr | 10 100 | 1K 10K | 100K | | | | | | | | | | |
| ¢ |) Sandbox | C:\Windows\System32\wbem /etc/cron.d/0hourly | Repository\OBJECTS.DAT | | robot-win win64 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | /etc/cron.daily/logrotate /etc/cron.d/sysstat | | | robot-linux | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ۶ | Settings | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | Events | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | raw → contains → En | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ۹ |
| | | This Month 🗸 | | | | | | | | | | | | | Next | % - (| c . | * |
| | | 🔲 time 👻 | grouped_scan 🗘 le | vel ≑ score | ≑ raw | | | | | | | | | | FILE | ≑ sc/ | ANID | |
| | | | 132 <u>5</u> | RROR - | Nov 10 17 g. SCANI | 7:43:28 D: 20231110-G | NA-AC3 | THOR | Error: MODULE: | SignalHandle | er MESSAGE: | Non-inte | ractive mode | | | 202 GN | 231110- A-AC3 | |
| | | > 2023-11-10 | 1325 | NFO - | Nov 10 17 SCANID: 243s | 7:43:28 20231110-GNA- | AC3 WORKER: 1 | THOR | : Info: MODULE: P : /var/lib/dpkg/in | ProgressTrack fo/libical2 | ker MESSAGE: amd64.md5sum | Last so ns ELEME | anned Elemen | t 2.021071 | | 202 GN/ | 231110- A-AC3 | |
| | | > 📃 2023-11-10 | 1325 | NFO - | Nov 10 17 1110-GNA- | 43:28 AC3 ACTIVE_MC | DULE: Filescar | THOR MODULE | : Info: MODULE: P _DURATION: 2h19m58 | ProgressTraci 1.767458963s | Ker MESSAGE: | Current | module SCA | IID: 2023 | | 202 GN | 231110- A-AC3 | |
| | | > 2023-11-10 | 1325 | NFO - | Nov 10 17 e. Use | :43:28 resume in add | ition to the cu | THOR urrent c | Info: MODULE: F command line options | ilescan MES to resume : | SAGE: Storin later. SCANI | ng curren D: 2023 | t position f 110-GNA-AC3 | or resum | | 202 GN | 231110- A-AC3 | |
| | | > 🔲 2023-11-10 | 1325 | RROR - | Nov 10 17 SCANID: | :43:27 20231110-GNA- | AC3 | THOR | Error: MODULE: | SignalHandle | er MESSAGE: | Received | | ignal. | | 202 GN | 231110- A-AC3 | |
| | | > 2023-11-10 | 1325 | RROR | Nov 10 17 g. SCANI | 1:41:36 D: 20231110-G | NA-AC3 | THO | R: Error: MODULE: | SignalHand | Ler MESSAGE: | Non-int | eractive mod | e, exitin | | 202 GN | 231110- A-AC3 | |
| | | > 2023.11.10 | 1995 | 150 | Nov 10 17 | | | TUO | | DrogroooTro | MERCARE | Curror | + modulo PO | NTD 202 | | 202 | 021110 | |

Fig. 1: Events Section

4.2 Baselining

All events that have **not** been assigned to a particular case are displayed in the **Baselining** section of the Analysis Cockpit.

Again, the Baselining Section is split into the different sources of our events. Additionally, you can see the Suggested Cases, which will suggest cases based on predefined *Case Templates*.

- THOR Events
- Aurora Events
- Log Watcher Events (deprecated)
- · Suggested Cases

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | ≡ Baselining > | THOR Events 61 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ≜ 18 ⊙2 | n 💄 admir | - c |
|----|--|---|--|---|------------------------|--|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|----------------|---------------------|-----|
| ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | auto_case_id + | | * | K [] | HOSTNAM | IE 🗸 | | | :: | MODULE - | | | | 8 | MESSAGE - | | | | 8 |
| | THOR Events 61 AURORA Events 1,914 Suggested Cases | 0 St.M1.ZzMb.k SzRułdWUKydc S-QHUjrcK9-A S363NTfV5vSE | | | | | | | | | 0 1 Eventlog Filescan LogScan ProcessCheck | 10 | | | | 0 1 Sigma match on I Possibly Dangero Suspicious file na Suspicious file na | 10 100 eventiog record us file found me in Log Entry found me in eventlog entry f | 1K | | |
| ŵ | Events | 537-60_0XC8 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | TAKA KUIE Match | in process | | | |
| | THOR Events | FILE - | | | 8 | labels - | | | | 8 | MATCHED_1 | | | | | REASON_1 - | | | | 8 |
| | Aurora Events | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1K 108 | | | | | | |
| Φ | Scans | C:\Windows\System | n32\drivers\PROCEXP152.SVS | | | at-env | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | C'\eventlog-scanne /root/ bash_history | -poc.log | | | robot-win win64 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| - | Assets | C:\Program Files (x C:\Program Files (x | 86)\Google\CrashReports\24a3 86)\Google\CrashReports\2c3e | 397e3-7782-4555-ab 77bc-cf54-49e8-90 | oc2-be022 7b-0f270f | 20230621-i robot-linux | PBU | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | Events | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | [| Create Case | Add To C | ase |
| i | Documentation | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| بو | Settings | raw - contain | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | This Month 💊 | Deep Inspection | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ** | | |
| | | 🔲 time | grouped_scan | 🗦 level 🗘 | score | 🗕 raw | | | | | | | | | | | | FILE \$ | SCANID | |
| | | > 2023- | 11-10 <u>1325</u> | WARNING | 140 | Nov SCAN 34:0 31d2 3Z em ype: ion in P DE25 d2-4 ciou r2: 4: " ion | 10 14:50:4 ID: 2023I 2022 ENT 012f4} Ve EventRecord Computer: of kernel mode SUBSCORE 1 rovider_Name RIPTION 1: 79e-9562-4: Service Computer kernel mode from suspin | 7 110-GNA-A(RY: Even 4ID: 22576 win8-at S de driver 70 REF me Str3: ' Detects ff5f4ead1 s SUBSCOR ontrol Man e driver" cious loca | C3 EVENT_1 C1D: 7045 Level: 4 0 Correla Security_U StartTyp 1: SIG '\\Windows suspiciou bs FALSEPC E_2: 70 F hager" in in Servic tions AD | THOR: THOR: D: 7045 [6] Provider_ Task: 0 ition_Activ serID: S-1 e: demand viserID: S-1 | Warning: WC VENT_LEVEL: Name: Servic Opcode: 0 K ityID: Exe Start Accou ternal MATCH in "C:\\Wind installation Unknown T ernal Resear: ame Str3: "\ DATE 2: 202 sreddine Ben | DULE: Even Information e Control eywords: 0 cution_Pro ceName: pm ntName: ED_I: Stri commands PE_I: Sign PE_I: Sign PE_I: Sign PE_I: Sign Cherchali cherchali | ntlog MES on EVENT_ Manager / TimeCre: cessID: 5 em Imagel SCORE: 1: "7045" 1: "7045" 1: "7045" 1: "7045" Npme2F08. AUTHOR_1: ma Rule R 2: intei n "C:\\Wii SCRIPTION (Nextron S | SAGE: Sig CHANNEL: Provider_G ated_Syste 64 Execut Path: C:\W 140 REASO in EventI tmp" in Im pH-T (Ne VEASON_2: rnal MATC ndows\\TEM [2: Detec Systems] | ma match o System EVE uid: {5559 mTime: 202 ion_Thread indows\TEM v_1: Suspi D Str2: "S agePath R xtron Syst Xtron Syst New Kernel ED_2: Str P\\pme2F0B ts a kerne D_2: 3956 | n Eventlog re INT_TIME: Thu G0801-a607-469 (2-04-07109:3- ID: 3296 Ch4 (2-04-07109:3- ID: 3296 Ch4 (2-04) (2-0 | cord Apr 7 11: 5-8e1e-269 :08.839297 innel: Syst 9 ServiceT 1 Manager" 122/11/14 dó1f71d-59 From Suspi EventID St installat 4-9bb6-fb5 | | 20231110 GNA-AC3 |)• |
| | | > 2022 | 11.10 1225 | WADNING | 140 | Nov | 10 14-50-2 | 4 | | THOP | Warning: M | | atlag MES | SACE - Sic | ma match o | n Evention re | aard | | 2022111 | |

Fig. 2: Baselining Section

Logs that represent the same type of anomaly or incident can be grouped together using the various filters and then be stored in a Case for further analysis. Grouping can be done manually by filtering and clicking Create Case, selecting individual Events and clicking Create Case, or automatically by simply clicking the Advanced Tools button and Auto Baselining. With Auto Baselining, the Cockpit automatically calculates groups of "similar" log lines.

Once stored in a case, the logs will disappear from the Baselining section.

The Analysis Cockpit can automatically check for events that can be added to existing cases. By clicking the Optimize button, the Analysis Cockpit will iterate through all unassigned events and check if there is a matching case.

Note: The optimization will iterate through all unassigned events and assign them to cases if a match were found. This may take a while.

In an ideal organization, the Baselining section should always be empty at the end of a day, as these logs represent suspicious elements that have not yet been looked at.

| | | | | | | | Å | |
|---------------------------|-------------|-----------|-------|---|-----|-------|----|--|
| Show 10 - | Previous | Next | *- | | G | • | \$ | |
| | Export as C | sv | | ¢ | SCA | NID | ¢ | |
| Eventlog | Export as T | ТХТ | | | 202 | 3111 | 0- | |
| IT_TIME: TI | Chart Prefe | rences | | | GN/ | A-AC3 | | |
| 8d1-a6d7-4 -04-07T09: | Unique Cou | ınt Calcu | lator | | | | | |
| D: 3296 C | Show Matc | hing Cas | es | | | | | |
| \pme2F0B.t ious Servi, | Show Matc | hing Ass | ets | | | | | |
| rvice Cont | Auto Basel | ining | | | | | | |
| _EDATE_1: | Guided Bas | elining | | | | | | |
| ms) ID_1: Mode Drive | Optimize | | | | | | | |
| : "7045" in | EventID S | st | | | | | | |

Fig. 3: Auto Baselining

4.2.1 Baselining Views

In the Baselining section there are two main views, the Compromise Assessment Mode and the Deep Inspection Mode. Additionally, you can find the Custom Signatures Only Mode, which will only show events found by custom signatures. This can be helpful if you scanned your environment with customer signatures, for example during or after an incident.

By default, the Analysis Cockpit Baselining Mode is set to Compromise Assessment.

4.2.2 Compromise Assessment Mode

The Compromise Assessment Mode is a new filter/representation of events created and reviewed by our security experts.

It includes our most successful detections. In this context "success" means, that the detection uncovered malicious activity in the wild and at the same time had a low anomaly and false positive rate. Additionally we also consider a detection to be successful that caused little or no false positives or anomalies.

The new view will combine and apply different techniques and filters to all the unclassified events in the Baselining section, providing a reduced set of logs which proved to be relevant from an analyst perspective.

This new "Compromise Assessment Mode" dramatically reduces your baselining effort. In our tests we noticed a decrease of events in the Baselining section of more than 90%. We believe that especially entities that follow our "Continuous Compromise Assessment" approach should switch into this new mode. We've also challenged the new mode with the post exploitation tools and techniques found in the context of HAFNIUM / Exchange exploitations in March 2021 and covered almost every aspect of the attacks in the new view.

C Optimize X

The Analysis Cockpit can automatically check for events that can be added to existing cases. By clicking the Optimize button, the Analysis Cockpit will iterate through all unassigned events and check if there is a matching case.

| Status | Running |
|-----------------|---------------------|
| Started | 2023-11-13 07:22:15 |
| Completed | |
| Events checked | 10000 |
| Events assigned | 0 |
| Percentage | 5% |
| | |
| | Optimize |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

Fig. 4: Optimize Function



Fig. 5: Select your view

-

×

Note: In case of an Incident Response, the Deep Inspection Mode is always recommended, since nothing is filtered here.

4.2.3 Deep Inspection Mode

This view is basically how it used to be (the old default view). It shows all Alerts and Warnings unless they are already part of an existing case.

4.2.4 Custom Signatures Only Mode

The Custom Signatures Only view will only show you events, which:

- Are not part of a case
- Where found by a custom signature

This view can be helpful if you only want to see events found by one of your custom signatures during a THOR scan. This can be helpful if you want to see only those events and nothing else.

4.3 Cases and Log Processing

The Cases section gives a good overview regarding the existing cases and also provides various filtering options. Column visibility can be configured by clicking on the Columns button of this section.

The Cases Section is split into the different sources of your Cases:

- THOR Cases
- · Aurora Cases
- Log Watcher Cases (deprecated)

Additionally, you can find more information regarding:

- · Grouping Criteria
- · Case Changes
- · Security Center

When a case is created, the state will be "Open" and the type will be set to "Noteworthy" by default.

The following states can be set (by default):

- Open
- Level 1 Finished
- · Level 1 Working
- · Level 2 Working
- Closed

It is possible to configure custom states.

The following types can be set:

• Incident

| | ASGARD Analysis edekpit | E | ≡ Cas | es > THOR Cases | | | | | | | | | | 🔜 🌲 18 😋 2H | admin ▼ |
|--|---|------------------|---------------------------------|---|---------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|---|---|-------------------------|----------------------|---|------------------|----------------|
| S ■ 4 C ■ | System Status Baselining Events Scans Cases THOR Cases Aurora Cases Advanced | > > > * | Case Vuine Notev Suspi | Type | | OK O | e Status 3 10 II Working | | | Recommendations 1 10 100 Result of paragraphic stars 100 100 Result of paragraphic stars 100 100 Result of paragraphic stars 100 100 Provide Results 100 100 Provide Results 100 100 Resource Field from System 100 100 | | | Tags 0 1 10 a a map zee | | |
| | Assets Reporting Sandbox Documentation | | Case Q | s status = "Level 1 Working" Name + | Status + | Type ‡ | Assets 4 | Events 🗘 | Summary | 0 8 | Q Not Me Modified \$ | rged ✔ 1·5 Taαs ≑ | i of 5 Show 50 - 1 Recommendations | Edit Cases | Delete Cases C |
| ٦ | Settings | | | Search Snapshot | Level 1 Working X + | Search - | Search (1) | Search (1) | Search Filescan Malware file four xt | nd FILE: /.snapshots/1/snapshot/10.t | Search - | Search (1) | Search Reinstall / Reset System Remove Vulnerability | Plan Remediation | C ² |
| | | | → → | 20220718-SelectedEven 15 | Level 1 Working | Vulnerability Noteworthy | | | Filescan Malware hie four signatures/otx-c2-iocs.txt Eventlog high Sigma matc me: - UtcTime: 2021-12-0 c9d-120f-61ae-3504-0000 C:\Windows\System32\ru 46 (WinBuild.160101.080 cated) | nd FILE: /tmp/spark-LHLHO2/custom- k ch on Eventlog record ENTRY: RuleNa b613:37:19.700 ProcessGuid: (a2429 000007e01) ProcessId: 7600 Image: undII32.exe FileVersion: 10.0.19041.7, 30) Description: Windows host (trun | 2023-11-10 | а | Reinstall / Reset System Remove Vulnerability Verify Legitimacy Run fo Plan Remediation Custom Recommendation | Plan Remediation | ی ۲ |
| | | | | 20220207 Regex | Level 1 Working | Noteworthy | | <u>29</u> | c | | 2022-02-07 | a | Provide Samplefile / Sampl Reinstall / Reset System Investigate Actions | edirectory | |
| | | | ÷ | SHIMCache selected ev ents | Level 1 Working | Suspicious | 8 | 81 | SHIMCache SHIMCache is flushed by attackers) PAT | s suspiciously empty (may have been 'H: (Live) | 2021-10-26 | d | Verity Legitimacy Provide Samplefile / Sampl Remove File from System | edirectory | |

Fig. 6: Cases Section

- Suspicious
- Vulnerability
- Noteworthy
- Unknown
- Legitimate Anomaly
- False Positive

See chapter *Glossary* for a detailed description of these terms.

Within a case, it is possible to add various information, write a summary, provide canned recommendations or add assessment information.

The log lines contained in the case can of course be analyzed in detail and changes to the case are tracked automatically.

The cockpit will automatically calculate rules (auto_case_id), that make sure, future incoming logs that are similar to the log lines in this particular case are automatically assigned to this case and **will not show up** in the Baselining section.

Important: Automatically assign newly incoming events to this case needs to be selected during case creation to automatically assign new events to an existing case.

In order to understand this better, let's assume you have decided a group of logs are legitimate anomalies. Then all future logs that are similar to these anomalies will automatically be added to this case and not show up in the Baselining section.

In case you have decided a group of log lines represent a security incident, the same thing will happen. Future log lines that represent a security incident will show up only in the case and not in the Baselining section.



Fig. 7: Case Details

Most organizations want to be alerted in case of a security incident. The Cockpit can be configured to forward all logs that are automatically assigned to an incident case to the organizations' SIEM System via syslog. Organizations that prefer to handle THOR Events entirely within the Analysis Cockpit and not forward anything to a SIEM system may choose to configure a notification that shows up in the Cockpit's Notification Section.

The following picture shows the recommended log processing.

As one can see, an incoming log line only shows up in the Baselining section when it matches no existing case.

This behavior is highly configurable and can be changed in the Settings section of the Analysis Cockpit. One can even decide not to forward anything to a SIEM System or may decide to also forward suspicious elements in addition.

In other Words:

Cases represent the means of setting and maintaining the log baseline within the Cockpit. When you scan your infrastructure once, assign all logs to cases and then scan it for the second time, the **Baselining** section should be empty if nothing has changed. All incoming logs should be similar to the ones in the first scan and therefore be assigned to the respective cases and not show up in the **Baselining** section.

Working with cases is explained in detail in the sections below.

4.3.1 Case Templates

Case Templates can be used to suggest new cases in the Suggested Cases section. If there are no Suggested Cases in the view, no events match the Case Templates in your Analysis Cockpit.

To import new Case Templates, you need to create a .yaml file with the conditions first. This can be done by navigating to the Cases view and exporting your search results as Case Templates. You will be able to download a .yaml file from here, which can be used to import as a Case Template.



Fig. 8: Log Processing

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | ≡ | Se | tting | s > Case Management > Case Templates | | | | | | | = 18 | 8 🕲 2h 💄 | admin 🕶 | د- |
|----|----------------------------|---|-----|-------|---|---|------|-----|---------|---|----------------------|-------------|-------------|----------|----|
| Ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Baselining | | Cas | e Te | mplates | | | | | | Import Case | Templates | Delete Case | Template | |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | | 1 - 23 of 23 | Show 25 - | 1 0 | - 2 | |
| ¢ | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | | | Name | | Туре | | Summary | | Creator | | Last Checke | d \$ | |
| _ | Accente | | | | | 6 | | | | 0 | | | | | |
| | Desertion | | | | Office Documents with VBA and/or Templates (maybe malicious but also widely used in a legitimate way) | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | | | |
| ~ | Reporting | | | | <u>User login on a sunday</u> | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| v | Sandbox | | | | Allows local admin group members to logon remotely with highest privileges | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| i | Documentation | | | | Remote Control Software: AnyDesk | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| عر | Settings | | | | Network share is freely writable from the outside | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Users and Roles | | | | Users Download Directories (findings are often related to legitimate downloads) | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Licensing | | | | Web Browser Cache | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Updates | | | | Remote Control Software: TeamViewer Portable | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Link Products | | | | Hosts File with reference to local IPs / localhost / "0-host" (no resolution) | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Case Management | | | | Process integrity checks are only relevant for Forensics (not activated in default) | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Case Status | | | | Available physical memory dropped below 50 MB during Thor scan | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Recommendations | | | | Found executable file in /tmp directory on Linux systems | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | NetGestions | 3 | | | Service that is not owned by root user (often found when function users for the services are used) | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Notifications | | | | Thor started on a system with the wrong processor architecture | | Unkn | own | | | admin | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Case Templates | | | | Service configurations that will allow privilege escalation | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | | | |
| | Rsyslog | | | | Burpsuite pentesting software | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | | | | | Detection of Autolt software | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | SMTP | | | | Found a user named "test" | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | System | | | | Folders that contain signatures of various security software | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | Backup | | | | <u>OneNote cache</u> | | Unkn | own | | | Nextron Systems GmbH | | 2023-11-13 | | |
| | | | | | | | - | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 9: Case Templates Overview



Fig. 10: Exporting Search Results as Case Templates

| Listing 1: | Exported | Case | Temp | olate |
|------------|----------|------|------|-------|
|------------|----------|------|------|-------|

| 1 | uuid: 94565b82-45fc-47f8-82eb-e9c5352c37c2 |
|---|---|
| 2 | name: Thor started on a system with the wrong processor architecture |
| 3 | summary: "" |
| 4 | type: 5 |
| 5 | scanner: THOR |
| 6 | creator: admin |
| 7 | condition: "\"MODULE: Startup\" AND \"MESSAGE: 32 bit THOR was executed on 64 bit |
| 8 | system. For improved results, use the 64 bit version of THOR.\"\r\n" |
| | |

After you downloaded the Case Templates, you can import them in the Case Templates view.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | Ξ | E Setti | ngs > Case Management > Case Templates | | | | | 3 4 18 | 🕑 2h L adm | nin - C - |
|-----|----------------------------|-----|---------|--|-----------------|--|---------|----------------|---------------|-----------------|------------------|
| | | | | | Import Case Tei | mplates 🗿 | | | | | |
| | | | | Templates | F8-(-) | | | Import Case Te | mplates | Delete Case Tem | |
| | | | | | File(s) | Browse No files selected. | | 1 - 23 of 23 | | | |
| | | | | | <u> </u> | case templates with same uuid will be overwritten. | | | | | |
| e | | | | | Import | | | | | | |
| | Assets | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4 | Paparting | | | | | | | | | | |
| ~ | Reporting | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | Sandbox | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Documentation | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| نقر | Settings | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | s 👝 | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | 0 | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | Case Templates | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | Case remplates | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Unknown | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 11: Import Case Template

You can now inspect the Case Template. You can find it by either looking for the name or filter by who created it. You can see that the conditions match the contents of your exported Case Template (.yaml file).

4.4 Understanding Users, Roles, Rights and Case Status

The rights and roles model within the cockpit is aimed to support large multinational organizations with different independent users working with the case management at the same time. An organization responsible for analyzing THOR logs might be split up in groups of analysts.

Within the cockpit, all users have the right to access the logs and create cases. Within the Case Management section, access rights are granted depending on the particular state the case is in.

In order to setup your rights management you must first decide about the states you want your cases to have, then assign rights for a particular state to a role and after that you add users to that particular role.

In order to understand this better, let's look at an example.

Let's assume we have an organization where a Level 1 analyst group located in Frankfurt is responsible for creating cases and providing an initial assessment for cases, while a Level 2 analyst group located in Hamburg is responsible

| | | C Suggested Case Thor st | tart × | |
|---|---|--------------------------|---|--|
| | | Details Matching Events | (0) | |
| Case Templates | | | ~1 | |
| | | UUID | 94565b82-45fc-47f8-82eb-e9c5352c37c2 | |
| | | Name | Thor started on a system with the wrong processor architecture | |
| Name | | Summary | | |
| | | Туре | Unknown | |
| → Office Documents with VBA and/or Templates (maybe malicious but also widely used in a legitimate way) | | Matching Events | | |
| → User login on a sunday | | Matching Events Updated | 2023-11-13 | |
| → Allows local admin group members to logon remotely with highest privileges | 1 | Example Event | | |
| → Remote Control Software: AnvDesk | | Auto Case IDs | | |
| → Network share is freely writable from the outside | | Condition | "MODULE: Startup" AND "MESSAGE: 32 bit THOR was executed on 64 bit system. For improved results, use the 64 bit version of THOR." | |
| → Users Download Directories (findings are often related to legitimate downloads) | | Regex | | |
| → Web Browser Cache | | Hidden | No | |
| → Remote Control Software: TeamViewer Portable | | | | |
| → Hosts File with reference to local IPs / localhost / "0-host" (no resolution) | | | | |
| → Process integrity checks are only relevant for Forensics (not activated in default) | | | | |
| → Available physical memory dropped below 50 MB during Thor scan | | | | |
| → Found executable file in /tmp directory on Linux systems | | | | |
| → Service that is not owned by root user (often found when function users for the services are used) | | | | |
| → Thor started on a system with the wrong processor architecture | | | | |
| → Service configurations that will allow privilege escalation | | | | |
| → ■ Burpsuite pentesting software | | | | |
| → Detection of Autolt software | | | | |
| → ■ Found a user named "test" | | | | |
| → Folders that contain signatures of various security software | | | | |
| → OneNote cache | | | | |

Fig. 12: Inspect Imported Case Template

for reviewing, final decision and closing of cases. In order to support an efficient workflow, you would at least need the following states for your cases:

- Open (nobody is yet working on this case)
- Level 1 Working (Level 1 is working on this case)
- Level 1 Finished (Level 1 has finished and nobody is now working on this case)
- Level 2 Working (Level 2 is working on this case)
- Closed (Case closed)

A workflow could look like this:

For your convenience, we already did the setup for this example and ship all Analysis Cockpit with this workable template by default. You are free to use, modify or delete the corresponding rights, statuses and roles.

However, in order to explain the concepts and the setup of roles and statuses better we assume for a while, we had an empty cockpit with no roles and statuses pre-configured.

In order to set up our pre-configured example, we navigate to the Settings section and create the following roles:

Every role can have different rights. We will explain this in detail in the next section. Firstly, we create Level 1 Analyst and Level 2 Analyst without rights at all.

After that we define the following statuses:

In the lower table you can manage the access rights for every role and every Case Status. We can give the suitable rights to our generated roles by clicking the New Rights for Case Status button on the right.

For Level 1 Analyst we add the right to read and write all "Open" cases and change the case status to this status (set).

Additionally, we grant Level 1 Analyst the rights to read, write and set all cases for "Level 1 Working".



Fig. 13: Workflow open Cases

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | Ξ | ∃ Settings > Us | ers a | and Roles > Rol | es | | | 64 | 18 🕲 | 2h 2 | admin | • (• |
|-----|----------------------------|---|-----------------|-------|------------------------|----|---|-----|---------|----------|--------------|----------|------|
| Ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | _ | |
| | Baselining | | Roles | | | | | | | | | New R | ole |
| | Events | | | | | | 1 - 5 of 5 | Sho | ow 25 • | | с | | \$ |
| ¢ | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | Name | | Description | | Rights | | Rest | rictions | ₹ A (| ctions | |
| | Assets | | Search | 8 | | 0 | Search | | | | - 6 | <i>•</i> | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | Level 3 Analyst | | | | | | | | e | 2 8 | |
| Ø | Sandbox | | Level 1 Analyst | | | | | | | | e R | د ۲ | |
| i | Documentation | | Universal Analy | st | | | Universal | | | | C | ۔ ۲ | |
| ريج | Settings | | Administrator | | | | Acknowledge Notifications Administrator Delete Events | | | | C | 5 | |
| | Users and Roles | | | | | | View Notifications Universal Upload Events | | | | | | |
| | Users | | | | | | Upload File(s) to Sandbox Analysis | | | | | | |
| | Roles | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | LDAP | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Licensing | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 14: Settings – adding additional roles

Finally, we grant the right to read and set cases for the status Level1 Finished. This allows Level 1 Analysts to set a particular case to "Level 1 Finished" and restricts them from modifying this case once they have passed it to this status.

For Level 2 we now add the rights to read and write cases for "Level 1 Finished" and the rights to read, write and set cases for "Level 2 Working". This allows Level 2 analysts to pick cases from the "Level 1 Finished" status and start working on them.

As we do not want Level 2 Analysts to reopen cases, that have already been closed we only grant them rights to read and set for the status "Closed".

Additionally, we give Level 2 Analyst the right to set the case status to "Open".

After that, the Access rights for Case Status section looks like this:

Of course, this is only an example. You may of course decide to give Level 2 full access to all cases, and it may also be a good means of training to grant Level 1 Analysts the right to see the "Level 2 Working" and "Closed" cases. You may also want Level 2 Analysts to reopen "Closed" cases or may restrict this right to an additional role. This just illustrates, that the system is highly configurable with an almost infinite number of statuses, roles and rights.

Finally, you simply add users and add them to their particular role.

| | ASGARD | | - Cottingo > Coco Monogom | ont > f | Casa Statua | | | | | | — 1 0 | 5 |)2h ● adm | oin - | |
|----|------------------|----------|--------------------------------|----------|--------------------------------|------------|-----------------|--------|--------------|-------|--------------|---------|----------------|--------------|--|
| | ANALYSIS COCKPIT | _ | | ent > t | | | | | | | e o | | | | |
| Ø | System Status | | 0 04-4 | | | | | | | | | | Consta Const | 2 and 1 | |
| | Baselining | | Case Status | | | | | | | | | | Sreate Case s | status | |
| ŵ | Events | | | | | | | | | of 6 | Show 25 👻 | | C - | \$ | |
| Ф | Scans | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | Name | | | | | | = Actio | ons | | | | | |
| - | Assets | | Search | | | | | | • | - | | | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | Level 2 Finished | | | | | | | - | | | | | |
| Ø | Sandbox | | Closed | | | | | | | - | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | | Level 2 Working | | | | | | | - | | | | | |
| ير | Settings | | Level 1 Working | | | | | | R. | - | | | | | |
| | Users and Roles | | Open | | | | | | Ľ | - | | | | | |
| | Licensina | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Lindates | | Access Dights for Case Stati | Ie | | | | | | | Ner | w Rial | hts for Case ! | Status | |
| | link Products | , | Access Rights for Case Stati | 10 | | | | | | | | r Rigi | no for ouse t | Julus | |
| | Case Management | | Access rights for C | ase S | status | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Status | | In the below table, you can co | onfigure | access rights for cases base | ed on th | e user's role a | nd the | e case's sta | atus. | | | | | |
| | Case Status | | Note: Roles with Universal ri | ghts au | tomatically get full access to | all case | S. | | | | | | | | |
| | Recommendations | | | | | | | | 1 - 8 | of 8 | Show 25 👻 | | C' • | \$ | |
| | Notifications | | Role | | Case Status | | Read | ≜ ۱ | Write | | Set 🚯 | | Actions | | |
| | Case Templates | | Search | A | Search | A | Search | - | Search | | Search | | | | |
| | Rsyslog | | Level 3 Analyst | Ŭ | Level 2 Finished | Ŭ | Yes | | Yes | | Yes | | 2 🕯 | | |
| | TLS | | Level 2 Analyst | | Open | | No | | No | | Yes | | 2 🕯 | | |
| | SMTP | | Level 2 Analyst | | Closed | | Yes | | No | | Yes | | C | | |
| | System | | Level 2 Analyst | | Level 2 Working | | Yes | | Yes | | Yes | | C 🕯 | | |
| | Backup | | Level 2 Analyst | | Level 1 Finished | | Yes | | Yes | | No | | C | | |
| | Feedback | | Level 1 Analyst | | Level 1 Finished | 1 Finished | | | No | | Ves 🕅 | | 12 | 2 🖀 | |

Fig. 15: Settings – Case Status





| Ø | Sandbox | > | Open | | | | | Ľ 1 | | |
|----|---|---|--|--------|------------------|---|------|------------|-----------|------------------------|
| i | Documentation | | | | | | | | | |
| ىر | Settings | | Access Rights for Case | Status | | | | | New F | Rights for Case Status |
| | Users and Roles Licensing Updates | | Access rights fo In the below table, you o Note: Roles with University | i. | | | | | | |
| | Link Products | | | | | | | 1 - 8 of 8 | Show 25 - | 1 C 🗸 🌣 |
| | Case Management | | | | | | | | | |
| | Case Status | | Role | \$ | Case Status | | Read | Write | 🗘 Set 🗈 | Actions |
| | Recommendation | s | | 6 | | 6 | | | | |
| | Notifications | | Level 3 Analyst | | Level 2 Finished | | Yes | Yes | Yes | C |
| | Casa Templataa | | Level 2 Analyst | | Open | | No | No | Yes | C |
| | | | Level 2 Analyst | | Closed | | Yes | No | Yes | 2 |
| | Rsyslog | | Level 2 Analyst | | Level 2 Working | | Yes | Yes | Yes | C |
| | TLS | | Level 2 Analyst | | Level 1 Finished | | Yes | Yes | No | C |
| | SMTP | | Level 1 Analyst | | Level 1 Finished | | Yes | No | Yes | 2 🗊 |
| | System | | Level 1 Analyst | | Level 1 Working | | Yes | Yes | Yes | 2 🕯 |
| | Backup | | Level 1 Analyst | | Open | | Yes | Yes | Yes | C |
| | Feedback | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 17: Settings – Access rights for Case Status

CHAPTER

BASELINING

This section assumes, that you have read the chapter Basic Concepts.

All incoming logs, that do not match an existing case, will show up in the **Baselining** section. From here you can create cases and define your baseline, meaning every event showing in the baseline is in theory something unknown/new.

5.1 Customize Your View

By default, the Analysis Cockpit Baselining view ships with multiple bar charts and a table with the most relevant columns in order to help you find meaningful groups of logs. You can add additional bar charts by clicking on the Advanced Tools button and selecting Chart Preferences.

You can also modify which bar charts are shown by the name/field-name of the chart and choose the category you want to see. To get more details about a bar chart, you can click on square symbol in the heading of the bar chart.

Click the Columns button to manage which columns are shown.

Since the column preferences have an overvelming amount of fields you can choose from, we made looking for specific columns easier by integrating a search into the top right corner.

Hint: All views are personalized and changes will only affect your user.

5.2 Manual Case Creation

This section walks you through the manual case creation. This method gives you more flexibility in terms of conditions and details regarding the cases, but is more time consuming.

The results of the cases depending on specific settings you are setting during the case creation.

5.2.1 Case Creation Basics

Create a new case following these steps:

1. Select on which conditions the case should be built. Search Result

will take your filters from the baselining view into consideration, and build a case with the condition of your search.

1. Inspect the Case Assignment and Conditions. Set Auto Assign if needed.

| | | | Cre | ate Case | A | dd To | Case |
|----------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|--------------|-------|------|
| | | | | | | | Q |
| 0 of 61 | Show 10 - | Previous | Next | *- | G | T | \$ |
| | | Export as (| SV | | ¢ | FIL | E |
| 14:50:47 win8- MODULE: Event1 | | Chart Preferences | | | War ch o | | |
| ID: 70 CHANNE | 45 EVEN | Unique Cou Show Mate | int Calcu hing Cas | ilator ses | 7 | | |
| 08 2022 ervice | ENTRY: | Show Matc | hing Ass | sets | er_N : {5 | | |
| 1-a6d7- el: 4 | 4695-8e1 Task: 0 | Auto Basel Guided <u>Bas</u> | ining elining | | on: 0 T | | |
| ated_Sy EventRe | vstemTime cordID: | Optimize | | | 8392 ivit | | |
| Execut | ion_Proce | ess1D: 564 | Exec | ution_ | Thre | | |



Fig. 1: Chart Preferences



Fig. 2: Bar Chart Selector

| = | Baselining > | C Field: REASON_1 × | _ ** × |
|---|--|--|------------------|
| | | | |
| | auto_case_id + | Top 32 / 32 Values | Number of Events |
| | 0 1 10 1 | File Name Characteristics | 1,195 |
| | ST_MT_ZZMD_K SZRUIdWUKydc S-QHUjrcK9-A S363NTfV5vsF | YARA rule SUSP_NTLM_Hash_Simple_Password / Detects an NTLM hash of a too simple password - check it by googling the hash | 74 |
| | S3Y-Gd_oxc8 | Suspicious Service Installation | 50 |
| | | New Kernel Mode Driver From Suspicious Locations | 36 |
| | FILE - | YARA rule SUSP_OBFUSC_HTML_Hex_Encoded_PE_Dec22 / Detects HTML/HTA files that contain hex encoded portable executables | 15 |
| | C:\Windows\Syste | Suspicious SYSTEM User Process Creation | 12 |
| | C:\eventlog-scann /root/.bash_histor | File Created with System Process Name | 10 |
| | C:\Program Files (C:\Program Files (| Windows Defender Threat Detection Disabled | 8 |
| | Events | YARA rule SUSP_VULN_DRV_PROCEXP152_May23 / Detects vulnerable process explorer driver (original file name: PROCEXP152.SYS), often used by attackers to elevate privileges (false positives are possible in cases in which old varsions of process explorer are still present on the system). | 8 |
| | | Rarest 32 / 32 Values | Number of Events |
| | raw 👻 contai | Change PowerShell Policies to a Unsecure Level | 1 |
| | This Month | Run Whoami Showing Privileges | 1 |
| | time | Security Eventlog Cleared | 1 |
| | > 2023- | Sysmon Configuration Modification | 1 |
| | 2023 | YARA rule SUSP_LNX_SSH_Directory_Wrong_Permissions_May21 / Finds SSH directorys with group/world read/writable permissions | 1 |
| | | VARA rule SUSP LocalNETService Ref / Detects suspicious Software localNETService reference | 1 |

Fig. 3: Bar Chart Details

| | ASGARD ANALYSIS COCKPIT | - Recolining - TUAD Fuente 61 | | | ≜18 (5) 2h 💄 admin 🕶 🗲 🗸 |
|----------------|----------------------------|--|---------------------|--------------------------|---|
| Ø | System Status | Column Preferences | | × | |
| AA | Baselining | . The second sec | | | SSAGE → [] |
| | THOR Events 61 | | | Find & Highlight Columns | |
| | AURORA Events 1,919 | @timestamp 巀 | KERNEL_NAME 🔕 | | ma match on Eventlog record ssibly Dangerous file found |
| | Suggested Cases | time 🧿 | KERNEL_VERSION 🧕 | | spicious file name in Log Entry found spicious file name in eventlog entry fou |
| ŵ | Events | _index 🥸 | KEY 📎 | | RA Rule Match in process |
| ¢ | Scans | scanner 🥸 | KEYWORD 🤕 | | ASON 1 - 51 |
| 8 | Cases | asset 🕱 | KEYWORDS 📎 | | |
| | Assets | hostname 📎 | | | spicious Service Installation |
| ¢ | Reporting | | | | e Name Characteristics w Kernel Mode Driver From Suspicious |
| Ð | Sandbox | scan 😧 | | | RA rule SUSP_VULN_DRV_PROCEXP152 |
| Ā | Documentation | | | | Rules have been beleten Flohi The wit |
| <mark>ت</mark> | Cottingo | | | | Create Case |
| | Settings | | | | Add to case |
| | | | | | Q |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | × · · · ₽ |
| | | case 没 | LEGAL_CUPYRIGHT_Z & | | ≑ FILE |
| | | case_type 🔌 | | | 2 THOR: War |
| | | | | | |
| | | ACCESSED 🤕 | LINE 📎 | | -GNA-AC3 |

Fig. 4: Column Preferences

| | ASGARD | | | TUOD Evente 61 | | | | | = ▲ 10 K 2h | • admin v | . - |
|---|----------------------|-----------|--|----------------------|---------------------|------|--|--------------|---|----------------------------------|------------|
| æ | Create Case | | | | | | | | | × | |
| | | -1- | | | 2 | | | 3 | |] Next | |
| | Ev | vents (16 |) | | Case Assignm | ient | | Case Details | | | |
| | Create Case Based On | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Selected Events (0) | 🕝 Sea | rch Result (16) | Condition | Regular Expression | n | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Scans | | FILE - | | labels - | | MATCHED_1 - | | REASON_1 - | | |
| | Cases | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Assets | | C:\Windows\Syster | | | | | | File Name Characteri | | |
| Ģ | Reporting | | /root/.bash_history C:\Program Files (x | 86)\Google\CrashRepc | | | C:\Windows\MEMORY.d Str1: \\ProcExpDriver.p | | YARA rule SUSP_VULI YARA rule SUSP_LNX | N_DRV_PROCEXP1 Cat_Shadow_Jun | |

| | ASGARD — Recolining > THOP | Guanta 61 | | ▲ 19_10 2h ● admin ▼ |
|---|---|---|--|--|
| æ | Create Case | | | × |
| A | | 2 | 3 | Back Next _{OK} |
| | Events (16) | Case Assignment | Case Details | |
| | Automatically assign newly incoming events to this c | ase. | | |
| | Based on the 16 events, the following grouping criteria ha | ave been automatically generated: | | |
| | FILE: C:\Windows\System32\drivers\PROCEXP1 FILE: C:\Windows\System32\drivers\PROCEXP1 fes\xf1\x98\x02\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00 x00\x00\ | 52.SYS AND MD5: 5423336a62ec9ec 52.SYS AND MATCHED_1: Str1: "\^ wcExp\\Sys\\x64\\Release\\ProcExpDu 1\x0a\x04\x04\x04\x0a\x00\x00\x00 EXP152" in "C\x00E\x00\x00\x00 0\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\\x00D\ w\x00\\x00D\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x | +f651e8ba6b64664ca AND MODULE: File: .ProcExpDriver.pdb" in "\xcd\xd8\x00\", -iver.pdb\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\ 36p\x09\x17\x04\x00\x174\ .x005\x002\x00\x00\x00\x00\x00\\x00\ x00\x00\\x001\x00\x00\x00\x00\\x00\\x00 | scan A\x99\xf22\xcc\x x00\x00\x01\x00\ x0c\x00\x17R\x1 x00b\x000\x00e\x DR\x000\x00C\x00 1\x000\x00b\x00 |
| ¢ | Sanadox > CAPrógram Files (486)\Gioc | le\CrashRepc | <mark> Strit: c</mark> at /e(c/shadow" in [*] ls\x0acat 6,txt | |

- 3. Set a case **name**, which serves as title use keywords that make it easy for other analysts to find it based on a few terms (e.g. if a false positive was caused by matches in **savedsearch.conf**, use this filename in the title of your case)
- 4. Select a sample event for the summary field
- 5. Add your assessment
- 6. Choose one or more **recommendations**
- 7. Select a case type (see the *Case Types* for a detailed description of every case type)
- 8. Select a case status (usually used to mark it as 'work in progress' or to forward it to the next team)
- 9. Submit case by clicking the Create Case button

5.2.2 Select Log Messages for a Case

In order to create a meaningful case, you typically start with selecting logs or groups of logs that you want to be contained in the case. This can be done in various ways:

- by adding a custom filter in the search bar
- by clicking on one of the bars in the bar chart
- by clicking on the filter symbol in a field in a log line
- by using the Lucene Search Query

You can generate a filter condition using an expression in the search field, choosing a category, deciding whether the expression should be contained, equal etc. and clicking the search button. Clicking on one of the bars in the bar chart or on the filter symbol in a field in a log line will generate a filter condition, too.

Hint: Filters can be negated by clicking on the two arrows symbol or delete it by clicking on the cross symbol.

Using the built-in custom filters is the most common and easiest way to select groups of logs.

For those who prefer Lucene, an additional Lucene search bar can be activated and can even be combined with the built-in custom search.

In order to activate the Lucene Query search just click the contains button and choose Lucene Query.
| | ASGARD — Bacol | ining 🕆 TUAD Evente 61 | | | | 🔍 🔍 admin 🔻 | د- |
|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|----|
| æ | Create Case | | | | | × | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Events (16) | Case | 2 Assignr | nent | Case Details | Back | |
| | Example Events (10 of 16) | | | | | | |
| | Nov 10 16:26:29 -CNA-AC3 FILE: C:\Windows\Sys e8ba6b64664ca SHA1: 769b0f6a8 868c4d FIRSTBYTES: 4d5a90003 4:20:01.876 2018 ACCESSED: The ORDEFINIERT\Benutzer:R / ZERTI SPAKETE\ALLE EINGESCHRÄNKTEN A | THOR: Warning: MODUL tem32\drivers\PROCEXP152.SYS 8a7c67d1805cef830bd4a9476b7a8 0000004000000ffff0000b800000 u Nov 9 16:13:43.488 2023 PE FIZIERUNGSSTELLE FÜR ANWENDUN NWENDUNGSPAKETE:R OWNER: VOR | LE: Fi EXT: 0a SH 0 / MZ ERMISS IGSPAKE DEFINI | lescan MESSAGE: Possibly Dangerc .sys SCORE: 90 TYPE: EXE SIZE: A256: a9fde9ea08cec51f90673ab19c1 CREATED: Mon Jun 25 16:38:21.60 IONS: NT-AUTORITÄT\SYSTEM:F / VOR TEVALLE ANWENDUNGSPAKETE:R / ZER ERT\Administratoren COMPANY: Sys | ous file found SCANID: 2 34328 MD5: 5423336a62e 12b9f7661a756d6aae6094873 33 2018 MODIFIED: Wed Ju RDEFINIERT\Administratore TIFIZIERUNGSSTELLE FÜR AN sinternals – www.sysinter | 0231110 c9eef651 026afd3 1 4 1 n:F / V WENDUNG nals.co | |
| ¢ | Name | | " D + | Recommendations (optional) | | | |
| C | Suspicious drivers found | | | Run full Antivirusscan $	imes$ Investigate Actions | × | | |
| E | Summary (optional) | | "D - | Custom Recommendation (optional) | | "D - | |
| J | Filescan Possibly Dangerous file found FILE: C | :\Windows\System32\drivers\PROCEXP152 | .sys | | | | |
| | Assessment (optional) | | D - | | | | |
| | Verify the legitimacy of the drivers. | | | Tags (optional) | External ID (optional) | | |
| | | | | | Enter external ID | | |
| | Туре | Status | | Add Comment (optional) | | | |
| | Suspicious - | Open | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Create Case | | | | | | |
| | | | | FILE: C:\Windows\Sy | stem32\drivers\PROCEXP152 | 2.S | |

| raw 👻 contains 👻 | Enter filter value | | | | |
|------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|----------|------------|------|
| This Month 🗸 | Deep Inspection 🗸 | C:\Windows\MEMORY.dmp | t | × | |
| | | | | 1 - 2 of 2 | Show |

Fig. 5: Active Filters



Fig. 6: Lucene Query



5.2.3 Case Creation from Search Results

This is the most relevant way to create a case. Create the filters, so that you only see the logs you want to be contained in your case. Then click the Create Case button, select Search results and add a name, that makes sense to you.

If you want future incoming logs with the same log lines automatically assigned to this case, you have to tick the checkbox Automatically assign newly incoming events to this case.

You may add a summary to your case.

You may or may not add assessment, case type, recommendations or a comment. After closing you will find the log section empty, as it is still using your filter, but the matching log lines have been removed from this section and added to the case.

Simply remove the filter and the remaining log lines will show up.



| | ASGARD — Rasoli | ning TUAD Evente 1 601 | | | 🔤 🌰 1 g 🔥 2 h | 🛡 admin 🔻 | · · · |
|---------------------|---|--|--|---|---|--|-------|
| æ | Create Case | | | | | × | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Events (1621) | Case | Assign | ment | Case Details | Васк | |
| | Example Events (10 of 1621) | | | | | | |
| * ↓ U | Feb 2 16:42:24 220201-PBU-AC3 FILE: C:\Users\ TYPE: HTML SIZE: 52154 MD5: 8899342e3f6a160e507ccf1efa8c914 t1 CREATED: Thu Dec 9 14:38:5 PERMISSIONS: BUILTIN\Administr | THOR: Warning: pb\ThorSeed\robot\distributi 8558e3f25c7eab0503a8c12d3469 ac5c0d4f617786eaf2f828b7 FI 3.424 2021 MODIFIED: Thu De ators:F / NT AUTHORITY\SYSTE ators:F / NT AUTHORITY\SYSTE | MODU on\Per 3f21 RSTBYT c 9 1 M:F / | LE: Filescan MESSAGE: Possibly D ndulum-WIN_thor_2021-12-09_1344.ht SHA1: d6bb2b0043c27f41e1e0e6d6c99 ES: 3c68746d6c3e0a3c686561643e0a6 14:38:53.459 2021 ACCESSED: Fri D PENDULUM-WIN\pb:F OWNER: BULLII Dennuduk-WIN\pb:F OWNER: BULLII | Dangerous file found SCANID tml EXT: .html SCORE: 230 091c58ab34f556 SHA256: bd1d 093c7469746c / <html> <head- Dec 10 15:15:36.357 2021 NAdministrators REASON_1:</head- </html> | : 20 2abdf √ <ti YARA</ti | |
| | rule SUSP_Password_Dumping_Keyw | oras_aprzi / Detects keywora | s orte | Peopermondations (optional) | (\$ / SCRIPTS SUBSCURE_T: /6 | ' _ | |
| | Foter name | | -9+ | Select recommendations | | | |
| F | Cummany (antional) | | 5 | Custom Decommondation (antional) | | ~ | |
| 1 | Filescan Possibly Dangerous file found FILE: C: \Pendulum-WIN_thor_2021-12-09_1344.html | \Users\pb\ThorSeed\robot\distribution | 9. | Enter custom recommendation | | 3. |] |
| | Assessment (optional) | | ™ - | Tags (optional) | External ID (optional) | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | Add Comment (optional) | | | |
| | Type | Status | | | | | |
| | | open | Ť | | | | |
| | Create Case | | | | | | |
| | | | | EXT: .html SCORE: 2 | 230 TYPE: HTML SIZE: 5215 | | |

Fig. 7: Baselining – Create Case



Fig. 8: Log Section empty

5.2.4 Case Creation from Selection

In order to create a case from a specific selection of logs simply use the checkboxes at the very left side of the table and click the Create Case button select Selected events and add a name, that makes sense to you.

| | ASGARD | | Racolining - TUOD Evante 1 601 | ■ ▲ 12 (\$ 2h ● admin ▼ (▼ |
|---------|---|---|--|--|
| æ | Create Case | | | × |
| | | | | |
| | | Events (2) | 2 3 Case Assignment Case Details | Back Next _{DK} |
| | Automatically Based on the 2 eve | assign newly in ents, the follow | coming events to this case. ng grouping criteria have been automatically generated: | |
| 7 0 U U | FILE: C:\User \mimikatz.exe z mimilove mm ELEMENT: "201 icious file n FILE: C:\User mimikatz.exe" | rs\pb\robot\ AND \\(q32 32 mm64 pw3 8-10-02T14: ame in Log rs\pb\robot\ , Str3: "\\ | <pre>data\useranonymization\windows\logwithusers.log AND MODULE: LogScan AND PATTERN: q64 wceaux w86 q86 quarkpwd[^\\]* m64 m32 hash32 hash64 64 32 wce32 wce64 wce p32 p64 2 pw64 g32 g64 g32 g564 hashdump dumpsvc)\.exe pendulum-win b5:00Z Notice AND MESSAGE: someone dropped C:\\Users\\foo\\Desktop\\mimikatz.exe" intry found AND MODULE: LogScan pendulum-win data\useranonymization\windows\logwithusers.log AND MATCHED_STRINGS: Str1: "\\mimik mimikatz.exe", Str4: "\\mimikatz.exe", Str5: "\\mimikatz.exe" AND MODULE: LogScan</pre> | \Mimikatz.exe AND ps32 ps64 mimikat AND MESSAGE: Susp atz.exe", Str2: "\\ |
| ¢ R | Sanapox | | String \\SystemRoot\\System32\\Config1\ | |
| بر | Settings | | Events | Create Case Add To Case |
| | | | | Q |
| | | | | |
| | | | | Vext 🗶 - C - 🌣 |
| | | | 🖬 time 💠 grouped_scan 🗢 level 🗢 score 👻 raw | \$ FILE |
| | | | ✓ 2022-02-02 578 WARNING 90 Feb 2 16:43:24 THOR: Warning: MODULE: LogScan icious file name in Log Entry for 220201-PBU-AC3 FILE: C:\Users\pt eranonymization\windows\logwithut | C:\Users\ MESSAGE: Susp \data\use und SCANID: 20 \windows b\robot\data\us sers.log |

Fig. 9: Creating Cases from Selection

After closing you will find the selected logs have been removed from the logs section.

5.2.5 Case Creation Using a Custom Condition

To create a case with a condition, click the Create Case button and select Condition. Now you can build a condition by entering keywords in the field.

Keywords in the same field are combined by **OR**, you can negate them by clicking the NOT button or combine them with **AND** by clicking the Add AND Condition button. The filter bubbles you have generated before will be used as default. You are free to use, modify or delete them. Conditions only match on the raw field.

The Test Condition / Regular Expression button will calculate the numbers of hits and return some matching and some non-matching events as an example.

Again, you may or may not add auto assignment for future incoming log lines, summary, assessment, case type, recommendations or a comment. After closing you will find the selected logs have been removed from the logs section.

| | ASGARD = Bacolining THOD | Evente 1601 | — 19 | 1974 • admin • C • |
|---|---|--|---|---|
| æ | Create Case | | | × |
| | | | 3 | J |
| | Events (2) | Case Assignment | Case Details | Next OK |
| | Create Case Based On | | | |
| | Selected Events (2) Search Result (21) Search Result (21) | ondition 🛛 Regular Expression | | |
| 4 | Condition | | | |
| € | NOT FILE: C:\Users\pb\robot\windows\logwithuse | rs.log × Enter keywords | | Case Insensitive |
| E | | | | × |
| = | Add AND Condition | | l | i |
| ¢ | Resulting Condition | | | |
| | "FILE: C:\\Users\\pb\\robot\\data\\useranonymization\\window | ws\\logwithusers.log"i | | Custom Mode |
| E | Test Condition | | | |
| J | Events (2) | | | |
| | Feb 2 16:43:24 SCANID: 20220201-PBU-AC3 FILE: C:\Users' 8:16 2021 LOG_ACCESSED: Wed Feb 2 17:43 MESSAGE: someone dropped C:\\Users\\foo\' w86 q86 quarkpwd[^\\]* m64 m32 hash32 hash 4 gs32 gs64 hashdump dumpsvc)\.exe SCORE: | THOR: Warning: MODULE: LogScan MESSAGE \pb\robot\data\useranonymization\windows\log :24 2022 LOG_CREATED: Fri Dec 3 10:17:40 2 \Desktop\\mimikatz.exe" PATTERN: \Mimikatz. h64 64 32 wce32 wce64 wce p32 p64 ps32 ps64 90 DESC: AVIVORE IOCs https://www.context | : Suspicious file name in Log Ent withusers.log LOG_MODIFIED: Thu 021 ELEMENT: "2018-10-02T14:05:0 exe AND \mimikatz.exe AND \\(q32 mimikatz mimilove mm32 mm64 pw32 is.com/en/blog/avivore SIGTYPE: | ry found Dec 2 14:4 0Z Notice q64 wceaux pw64 g32 g6 internal |
| | Apr 27 06:06:17 | THOR: Warning: MODULE: LogScan MESSAGE | : Suspicious file name in Log Ent | ry found |
| | ➤ ZUZZ-UZ-UZ | 578 WARNING 90 Feb 2 | | |

Fig. 10: Creating Cases through Condition

5.2.6 Case Creation Using a Regular Expressions

In order to create a case from a regular expression just click the Create Case button and select Regular Expression. This lets you write and test your regular expression.

The Test Condition / Regular Expression button will calculate the numbers of hits and return some matching and some non-matching events as an example.

Again, you may or may not add auto assignment for future incoming log lines, summary, assessment, case type, recommendations or a comment. After clicking the Create Case button, the matching lines will get removed from the log management view.

Warning: It is recommended to use regular expressions only rarely and with caution. This feature can severely impact the performance of the system.

| | ASCARO — Recolining - THOP Events 1 431 | 19 (S) ?h 🔍 admin 🔻 | |
|---|--|--|-------|
| æ | Create Case | × | |
| | 3 | Next | |
| | Events (2) Case Assignment Case Details | | |
| | Create Case Based On | | |
| | Selected Events (0) Search Result (21) Condition 🤡 Regular Expression | | |
| 4 | Regular Expression | | |
| € | \\logwithusers\.log | | |
| E | Test Regular Expression | | |
| | Events (2) | | |
| | Feb 2 16:43:24 THOR: Warning: MODULE: LogScan MESSAGE: Suspicious file name in Log I SCANID: 20220201-PBU-AC3 FILE: C:\Users\pb\robot\data\useranonymization\windows\logwithusers.log LOG_MODIFIED: TI 8:16 2021 LOG_ACCESSED: Wed Feb 2 17:43:24 2022 LOG_CREATED: Fri Dec 3 10:17:40 2021 ELEMENT: "2018-10-02T14:00 MESSAGE: someone dropped C:\\Users\\foo\\Desktop\\mimkatz.exe" PATTERN: \Mimikatz.exe AND \\\(q: w86 q86 quarkpwd[^\\]* m64 m32 hash64 64 32 wce32 wce34 wce32 p64 p332 p564 mimikatz mimilove mm32 mm64 pw | Entry found nu Dec 2 14:4 5:00Z Notice 32 q64 wceaux 32 pw64 q32 q6 | s a S |
| | 4 gs32 gs64 hashdump dumpsvc)\.exe SCORE: 90 DESC: AVIVORE IOCs https://www.contextis.com/en/blog/avivore SIGTYPE | : internal | |
| | Apr 27 06:06:17 Pendulum-WIN/192.168.44.128 THOR: Warning: MODULE: LogScan MESSAGE: Suspicious file name in Log I | ntry found | |
| | | | |

Fig. 11: Creating Cases through Regular Expressions

5.3 Automated Case Creation

With Auto Baselining, the Cockpit will automatically generate cases for groups of logs that are similar, or in other words: Have the same auto_case_id.

After clicking the button Automatically generate Cases button in the Auto Baselining tab you will be prompted for a threshold. This means: Do only create a case when you find at least that many similar logs. In our example below the Cockpit will now generate cases for all groups of at least 2000 similar events.

After pressing the Start button, the Cockpit will start calculating and create cases. Depending on the data volume this may take a while and you will be presented a page that shows that Auto Cases is still running along with the current number of cases.

It is safe to leave this page, once the status in Running. It will continue in the background.

Important: The Analysis Cockpit generates auto_case_ids only for Alerts and Warnings. Don't use the Autocase feature for Notice and Info level events.

5.4 Add to Case

Sometimes you may want to add log lines to an already existing case because they represent the same security context. To do this you can just click the Add to Case button and select the suitable case. It is also possible to add an additional comment to this case for the addition.



Fig. 12: Automatically create cases

| ≡ Baselining → | C Auto Baselining × | | _ "" × |
|--|-------------------------------------|---------------------------|--|
| auto_case_id ~ | Auto Baselining | 2 × | n to cases. The grouped events can be then |
| 0 1 10 | Minimum Number of Events per Case 🚯 | 100 | |
| St_M1_ZzMb_k SzRuldWUKydc | Start Auto Baselining | | |
| SI4UH_QXaTuc | Jaricu 3 | | |
| SQNS1q-zUIMI | Completed | 2023-11-10 16:27:17 | |
| | Cases created | | |
| FILE - | | Automatically Generate Ca | ses |
| 0 1 10 1 C:\eventlog-scann /var/log/anaconda C:\Windows\Syste | | | |

Fig. 13: Automatically create cases

| C Auto Baselining × | _ ** × |
|---|---|
| The Analysis Cockpit can automatically find simila analyzed in the <u>Case Management</u> . | ar events and group them to cases. The grouped events can be then |
| Status | Stopped |
| Started | 2023-11-10 16:27:03 |
| Completed | 2023-11-10 16:27:17 |
| Cases created | 7 |
| | Automatically Generate Cases |

Fig. 14: Auto Cases Status

| | ASGARD analysis cockpit | | ≡ Baselining > THC | D Evante | Fuente To Cooo | | | | | | | | | ~ | | | 18 © 21 | | |
|-----|----------------------------|----|--|----------|--|------------------|------------------|---------------|--------------|---|------------|-----------------|-------------------|------------|---|-----------------------------|---------|--------|------|
| Ø | | | | Add | Events to Case | | | | | | | | | ^ | | | | | |
| | Baselining | | auto_case_id + | | | | | | | • | | | | | | | | | |
| | THOR Events 1,621 | | | | Select Case | | Events (1) | | Case A | Assignment | | Case Details | | | | | | | |
| | AURORA Events 83,5 | 43 | St_M1_22M0_K SzRuldWUKydc | | | | | | | | | | | | Alware file found | ound | | | |
| | | | STQeWJQtGLvw | Case | s | | | | | | | | | | signa match on evenue suspicious archived file | found | | | |
| ŵ | | | | | | | | େ ଛ ସ | Not Merged | | | ×- * | C - \$ | * | | | | | |
| Φ | | | | | Namo | ≜ Ctatus ≜ | Tuno | Accesto d | Evente 👘 | Summary | Modified | Togo | Decommonded | tic | | | | | |
| 8 | | | | | | Level 1 Working | Vulnerability | → Assets → | | Filescan Maiware file fo | 2023-11-10 | nap | Keinstall / Kese | ets | | | | | |
| = | | | | | | | | | | und FILE: /.snapshots/ 1/snapshot/10.txt | | | Plan Remediati | ion | | | | | |
| ¢ | | | /var/log/anaconda/jour C:\Windows\System32\v | | | | | | | | | | Remove Vulner | ab | (ARA rule SUSP_NTLM_) Suspicious Service Insta | Hash_Simple_Passw Nation | | | |
| ¢ | Sandbox | | C:\Program Files (x86)\ C:\Program Files (x86)\ | ÷ | ssh bin file | Level 1 Finished | Noteworthy | | | Filescan Possibly Dang erous file found FILE: / | 2023-11-10 | bin | Verify Legitima | icy v6l | Rew Kernel Mode Driver ARA rule SUSP_OBFUSI | From Suspicious Lo | | | |
| E | | | | | | | | | | usr/bin/ssh | | | Investigate Acti | ior | | | | | |
| يو. | | | | | Zeservices | Level 1 Working | Vulnerability | | | Filescan Malware file fo | 2023-11-10 | zee | Reinstall / Rese | et | | Crea | te Case | Add To | Case |
| | | | | | | | | | | und FILE: /tmp/spark-L | | | Plan Remediati | ion | | | | 2 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | res/otx-c2-iocs.txt | | | Remove Vulner | ab | | | | \sim | |
| | | | All Time 🗸 🕻 | | Panther log file | Open | Suspicious | | | LogScan Suspicious file | | pan | Run full Antiviru | us | | | | | |
| | | | = 0e | | | | | | | name in Log Entry foun | | | Provide Forensi | ic | | | | | |
| | | | > 🔽 2022-02-0 | | | | | | | nther\setupact.log | | | Remove Vulner | ab | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | Custom Recom | Im | 1 \distribution\F | | | | |
| | | | | ÷ | passwd file | Open | Incident | 8 | 13 | Filescan Malware file fo und FILE: /etc/pam.d/p | 2023-11-09 | pwd | Verity Legitima | icy | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | asswd | | | Reinoverneine | | | | | | |
| | | | | | otx-c2-iocs case | Open | Noteworthy | | | Filescan Malware file fo | 2023-11-09 | ioc | Custom Recom | IM | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | 8FUG/custom-signature | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | s/otx-c2-iocs.txt | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | Legacy Events withou scanner* attribute | tt." Closed | Legitimate Anoma | <u>aly 66</u> | <u>15001</u> | Filescan Possibly Dang erous file found FILE: / System/Library/CoreSe | 2023-08-17 | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 15: Add to Case

5.5 Customizing the Detailed View of Log Lines

The detailed view for log lines opens by clicking on a log line. Within this view you can select some fields as favorite fields by clicking on the star symbol. They will always be shown at the top of this view. MESSAGE, MODULE and hostname are selected by default.

To search for all log lines with the same entry as this log line in a particular field, you can click the dropdown on the left hand side of the field.

| Add To | Case Q |
|--------------|-----------|
| 2 ▼ IID | |
| e • | |
| C • | |
| IID | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| Q 🖣 | * |
| Q 🖣 | * |
| | * |
| Q 🖣 | |
| Q 🖣 | |
| Q 🖣 | |
| Q 🖣 | |
| Q T + | |
| ର ▼₊ | |
| Q T + | |
| Q 🖣 | |
| Q 🖣 | . ☆ |
| Q ▼₊ | |
| Q ▼₊ | 4 |
| ର ▼₊ | |
| Q T + | . ☆ |
| Q ▼, | . ☆ |
| | · ☆ |
| Q ▼, | 4 |
| Q ▼, Q ▼, | |
| AL. | |

Fig. 16: Customizing the detailed view for log lines

Additionally, you can find a VIRUSTOTAL button in every hash field and a VALHALLA button in every reason field. By clicking VIRUSTOTAL the hash will be searched on Virustotal. By clicking VALHALLA you will get more information about the matching rule from valhalla.nextron-systems.com.

5.6 Usage of the Context Menu

You can use the context menu on any **value** in your logs to get an action menu. Within this menu, you can do different actions:

You can filter, search for similar events, or even create cases based on the value you right-clicked.

| level 🌲 | score 👻 | ▼ raw | ≑ FIL |
|---------|---------|---|---|
| WARNING | 230 | Feb2 16:42:24THOR: Warning: MODULE: Filescan MESSAGE: Possibly ngerous file found SCANID: 20220201-PBU-AC3 FILE: C:\Users\ph\ThorSeed\robot\distribution\Pendu um-WIN_thor_2021-12-09_1344.html EXT: .html SCORE: 230 TYPE: HTML SIZE: 52154 MD5: 8558e3f25 eab0503a8c12d34693f21 SHA1: d6bb2b0043c27f41e1e0e6d6c9991c58ab34f556 SHA256: bd1d2abdf8899342e3 5a160e507ccf1efa8c914ac5c0dd4f617786eaf2f828h7 EDSTRYTES: 3c68746d6c3eAa3c686551543e0a093c746974 selection: 9 14:38:53.459 F / NT AUTHORIT Y\SYSTEM:F / pb:F OWNEF Umping_Keywords_Apr21 / Detects keyw SUBSCORE_1: 70 REF_1: https://twit internal MATCHED_1: Str1: "Get-Proc 34;Get-Process lsass" in "ro RULEDATE_1: 2021-04-23 RULENAME_1: REASON_2: YARA rule SUSP_PS1_LSASS hell to get the process object of th elsec/status/1400548671490514947?s=2 n "ternalhell to get the process object of th elsec/status/1400548671490514947?s=2 n "ternal+ Create case based on selection: Noteworthy + Create case based on selection: Legitimate Anomaly + Create case based on selection: False Positive | Da C:\ 1 \dis 7 Wit 6 D : # S k t i.n |
| WARNING | 230 | Feb 2 16:42:24 Pendulum-WIN/172.16.214.128 THOR: Warning: MODULE: Filescan MESSAGE: Possibly ngerous file found SCANTD: 20220201-PBU-AC3 FILE: C:\Users\ph\ThorSeed\robot\distribution\Pendu | Da C:\ 1 \di |

Fig. 17: Context Menu

CASE MANAGEMENT BEST PRACTICES

This section assumes, that a 2-Level model as described in *Understanding Users, Roles, Rights and Case Status* is used. The following actions will be explained:

• Opening a case

- Handing a case over to the next level
- Closing a case
- Reviewing the rules that add future logs to this case (Grouping Criteria)

6.1 Open a Case for Editing

The picture below shows the Case Management view with cases that have been created with the Auto Case feature. You can see those cases by filtering the Name column to only contain the Auto Case value and the Status column to only contain the Open value.

| | ASGARD Analysis COCKPIT | ≡ c | ases | > THOR Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | - | 8 🌲 | 18 රා 2 | n 💄 adr | nin - C |
|--------|-----------------------------|--------|------------------|-------------------------------|---|----------------------|--------------------|-----|------------|-------------|----------------|---|------|-----|--|------|-------|---------|---|---|---------------|----------------------|----------------------------|-------|------|---|------|-------|-----------|-----------------|---------|
| 8 1 | System Status Baselining | Ca | ise Tyj | ре | | | | | Case Statu | 15 | | | | | | Reco | ommen | dations | | | | | Ta | ags | | | | | | | |
| ŵ | Events | 0 | | 1 10 10 | | | | | 0 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Ф | Scans | Un | known | | | | | | Open | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | THOR Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Aurora Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Advanced | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| = | Assets | 6. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Casas | Delete | Canada |
| ¢ | Reporting | Ga | 562 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | EU | I Gases | Delete | Cases |
| Ø | Sandbox | a | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 6 | ۹ | Aerged | | | | | | | | | | |
| i | Documentation | | | Name | | Status | Type | ÷ Δ | ssets | ÷ F | vents | | Summ | arv | | | | | | | | Modi | fied 🗧 | ≑ Tai | 15 | | Reco | mmend | lations 🖨 | Action | s |
| يو | Settings | | | Auto Case | 0 | | | | | 8 | | 0 | | | | | | | | | 0 | | | | arch | 0 | | | | | |
| | | → | • | Auto Case | | Open | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | → | | Auto Case | | Open | Unknown | 5 | | 1 | 13 | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 | -11-10 | | | | | | | ピ | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 0000 | 11 10 | | | | | | | C 2 | |
| | | 7 | | Auto Case | | Upen | Unknown | | | 1 | 14 | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | → | | Auto Case | | Open | Unknown | | | 1 | 17 | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 | -11-10 | | | | | | | Ľ | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | ÷ | • | Auto Case | | Open | Unknown | | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 | -11-10 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | - | | Auto Caso | | 0000 | Hakaawa | | | 2 | 10 | | | | | | | | | | | 2022 | .11.10 | | | | | | | F. ⁸ | |
| | | Í | | Auto 0030 | | open | UNIONI | 4 | | 4 | <u></u> | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | → → |)))) | Auto Case Auto Case Auto Case | | Open Open Open | Unknown Unknown | | | 1 1 2 | 17 17 18 | | | | | | | | | | | 2023 2023 2023 | -11-10 -11-10 -11-10 | | | | | | | 2 2 2 | |

Fig. 1: Opening a Case for editing

In our example a Level 1 Analyst would now pick one of these open cases and set the Status to "Level 1 Working". To do this, they would open the case by clicking on the magnifier button and modify the status to Level 1 Working and then click Update.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | | ≡ Ci | ises > TH | HOR Cases | | | | | | | | | Case: Auto | Case × | | | | _ | * × |
|----|----------------------------|---|------|-------------|---------------|---|--------|---------|----------|------|-----------|---|---------|-----------------|--------------|-----------------------------|-----------|----------------------------|------------------------|-----|
| ø | System Status | | | | | | | | | | | | | Details Event | s (12) Affec | ted Assets (5) Grouping | Criteria | Change History Comments | | |
| | Baselining | | Ca | е Туре | | | | | Case Sta | atus | | | | ID | UUID | | | Recommendations (optional) | | |
| ŵ | Events | | 0 | 1 | 10 | | | | 0 | 1 | 10 | | | | | -f0f3-419a-85e1-fb050a6c34a | | | | |
| Ф | Scans | | | .1.20011 | | | | | open | | | | | Name | | | D- | Custom Recommendation (opt | | ·3- |
| 8 | Cases | × | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | THOR Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | Summary (option | | | ъ- | | | |
| | Aurora Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Tags (optional) | External ID (optional) | 1 |
| | Advanced | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| - | Assets | | Ca | es | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Add Comment (optional) | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| • | Sandbox | | Q | | | | | | | | | | | Assessment (opt | | | ъ- | | | |
| i | Documentation | | | 🔲 Nam | e | | Status | Туре | Assets | | Events | | Summary | | | | | | | |
| J. | Settings | | | Auto | o Case | | | | | 0 | Search | 0 | | Туре | | Status | | | | |
| | | | | 🔲 Auto | Case | 1 | Open | Unknown | | | | | | Unknown | | Level 1 Working | | 2 | | |
| | | | | | × | 2 | | | | | | | | Creator | | Filter Priority | | | | |
| | | | | | | | _ | | | | | | | | | Medium (default) | | | | |
| | | | → | Auto | <u>) Case</u> | | Open | Unknown | | | <u>13</u> | | | Undate Case | Delete Case | Merrie Case | | | | |
| | | | | Auto | Case | | Open | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 9 | | | | | | |
| | | | → | <u>Auto</u> | <u>) Case</u> | | Open | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | → | Auto | Case | | Open | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 2: Change Status

Now the logs within the case can be analyzed and results can be documented in the assessment field. Recommendations can be set from the canned recommendations list. Columns can be faded in and out and comments can be added.

6.2 Case Dispatching

Let's assume, our Level 1 Analyst concludes, that this is a "Legitimate Anomaly". They will now set the status to "Level 1 Finished" and update the case. After setting the case to "Level 1 Finished" the case becomes visible to the Level 2 Analyst.

6.3 Closing a Case

Let's assume, that a Level 2 Analyst now picks one of the cases in status "Level 1 Finished" and starts working on this case.

In this respect we assume, that something suspicious has been found, that needs further analysis by the system administration team. In most organizations this will be controlled through the organization's action request or ticketing system. So, we assume, that we will close the case in the Analysis Cockpit as it is progressed in another system. The status is changed to closed and the case gets updated.

Note: The Analysis Cockpit provides interfacing to action-request and external ticketing systems using the API.

| Cases Q status = "Closed" AND name CONTAINS "Auto Case" Image: Status = "Closed" AND name CONTAINS "Auto Case" Image: Status = Status = Type = Assets = Events = Summa Auto Case Image: Status = Search = | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----|-----|-------------------------|------|--------------|------|---------|----------|-----------|---|---------------------------------------|
| Q status = "Closed" AND name CONTAINS "Auto Case" Image: Status = "Closed" AND name CONTAINS "Auto Case" Image: Auto Case Image: Status = Type = Assets = Events = Summary Image: Auto Case Image: Closed × + Search + Search = Searc | Cas | ses | | | | | | | | | |
| NameStatusTypeAssetsEventsSummaAuto CaseClosed \times -SearchSearchSearchSearchSearchSearch \rightarrow Auto CaseClosedUnknown512Evention osoft-W 2022-0 | 0 | st | atus = "Closed" AND nam | e CO | NTAINS "Auto | o Ca | | | | | |
| Name Status Type Assets Events Summa Auto Case Closed × + Search + Search | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Auto Case Closed × Search | | | Name | | Status | | Туре | Assets 🗧 | Events | | Summa |
| → Auto Case Closed Unknown 5 12 Evention osoft-Windows 2c78 2022-0 | | | Auto Case | 8 | Closed × | • | Search | Search 🔒 | Search | 6 | Search |
| | → | | <u>Auto Case</u> | | Closed | | Unknown | <u>5</u> | <u>12</u> | | Eventlo osoft-W 2c78} 2022-0 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 3: Closing a Case

6.4 Generate and Review auto_case_ids

These auto_case_ids can be reviewed in the Grouping Criteria section of the case.

| | ASGARD Analysis cockpit | ≡ c | ases > THO | R Cases | | | | | | | | | | | C Cas | se: Auto Case | × | | | | 2 | | | | | - | •* × |
|---|----------------------------|-----|------------|----------------|------|--------|------|-----------|----------|-----|--------|---|----------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|----------------|------------------------------|---------------------|-------------|------------|------|----------------|--------|-------|------|-------|
| ø | System Status | | - | | | | | | 0 01- | | | | | | Details | Events (13 | 3) A | Affected Assets | (5) Groupi | ng Criteria | Change His | tory | Comments | | | | |
| | Baselining | Ca | ise Type | | | | | | Case Sta | tus | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ŵ | Events | 0 | - | 10 1 | | | | | 0 | 1 | 10 | | | | Auto Cas FILE: (| seIDs C:\Windows | s\Sys | tem32\asgard | l2-agent\b | in\conso: | le.exe A | ND I | MODULE: Filesc | an Al | ID SI | | fffd |
| Φ | Scans | | A10/001 | - | | | | | Closed | | | | | | 9c3d67 | 1f67c4d48a | 14a12 | f507c1cce66a | ic4be | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | FILE: (953f81 | C:\Windows 59e98a8cb4 | s\Sys If53f | tem32\asgard c6e46d86e3b0 | l2-agent\b lbc9b | in\conso: | le.exe A | ND I | MODULE: Filesc | an Al | ID SI | HA1: | db65 |
| | THOR Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | FILE: (| C:\Windows | s\Sys .E:F | tem32\asgard ilescan | l2-agent\b | in\conso | le.exe A | ND I | MD5: dff8fd4ca | dec70b | 36cac | 8c3f | e55e5 |
| | Aurora Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | FILE: 0 | C:\Windows | S\Sys | tem32\asgard | l2-agent\b | in\conso. | le.exe A | ND I | MD5: ea33f6161 | 153509 | e0a1d | b1f1 | a0e8e |
| | Advanced | | | | | | | | | | | | | | FILE: (| C:\Windows | s\Sys | tem32\asgard | 12-agent\b | in\conso | le.exe A | ND I | MD5: a0eb2842d | 198307 | 17c63 | 36bd | d287e |
| = | Assets | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 1d5 / | AND MODULI | | ilescan | | | | | | | | | |
| ¢ | Reporting | Ca | ises | | | | | | | | | | | | FILE: (| C:\Windows 3c5d328304 | s\Sys IAad5 | tem32\asgard | l2-agent\b l2a16 | in\conso: | le.exe A | ND I | MODULE: Filesc | an Al | ID SI | HA1: | 99e4 |
| | 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | SAtcFC | pG5pfs (un | nreso | lvable) | | | | | | | | | |
| v | Sandbox | C | 2 name CON | TAINS 'Auto Ca | | | | | | | | | | | FILE: (| C:\Windows | s\Sys | tem32\asgard | 12-agent\b | in\conso | le.exe A | ND I | MODULE: Filesc | an Al | ID S | HA1: | 0f5e |
| i | Documentation | | Name | | \$ S | tatus | ≑ Ty | /pe ≑ | Assets | | Events | | Summary | | 918422. FILE: (| C:\Windows | SVS | tem32\asgard | iecbb 12-agent\b | in\conso | le.exe A | ND I | MD5: e6f0debfa | bd23b3 | 3a87a | f05f | 9404a |
| ¥ | Settings | | Auto C | ase | 6 | | | | | a | | 9 | | | 39a / | AND MODULI | | ilescan | | | | | | | | | |
| | | - | Auto C | 200 | Ŭ | Nagad | | akaowa | | | | ~ | Evention Sigm | a match on Fi | FILE: (| C:\Windows | Sys | tem32\asgard | 2-agent\b | in\conso: | le.exe A | ND I | MODULE: Filesc | an Al | ID SI | HA1: | 72fb |
| | | - | Autore | 030 | | liuseu | | IIKIIOWIT | | | | | soft-Windows- | Windows Def | 4190a8 | i more | 14030 | 547880122401 | 0004 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | c78) Version: | 0 Level: 3 Ta | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | <u> </u> | | | | | | | | | 022-07-12T07: | 57:03.769377 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | ÷ | Auto C | ase | 0 | Dpen | U | Inknown | | | | | Filescan Possi console.exe | bly Dangerou | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | → | Auto C | ase | 0 | Open | U | Inknown | | | | | Filescan Possi gurator/XFree8 | bly Dangerou 36-4/4.x | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | → | Auto C | ase | 1 | Dpen | U | Inknown | 1 | | 17 | | RegistryHive S | uspicious file | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 4: Reviewing Grouping Criteria

In our example, three auto_case_ids were added that match all 1,000 log lines. In the future all incoming logs, that match one of the three "Detailed Reasons" will be added to this case directly and will not show up in the Log Management section.

6.4.1 Limitations

There are limitations to the visibility of grouping criteria. Grouping Criteria are only calculated for Alerts and Warnings. For all other types of logs (Notices, Info, Error) auto_case_ids are not calculated, so every log line gets its own highly specific filter that matches future occurrences of exactly the same log line but will not do any kind of generic matching. These highly specific filters are not displayed in the case for simplicities sake.

In rare cases the Analysis Cockpit will find it difficult to calculate auto_case_ids even for Alerts and Warnings. These logs will get tagged with optimized_template=false. In this case, the behavior is like for Notices, Info and Error messages. Grouping Criteria will not show up as it will be one highly specific filter per log line.

6.5 More Information about Cases

The Affected Assets tab of a case shows assets that have contributed at least one log line to this case. In this example 5 assets are affected. All of them have the same operating system "windows".



Fig. 5: Case – Assets Tab

In the Comments tab you can add comments and attachments to this case. Attachments can be used to pass additional information to members of the analysis team (e.g. memory dump for further analysis).

The Changes tab shows information about changes to this case.

In other words: This is your case audit log.

| | ASGARD | | | | | | | | Case: Auto Case | × | | 6 | | | |
|----|---------------|---|-----------|------|-------------|---------------|----------|----------------------|-----------------|---|------|----------------|------------|------------|--|
| Ø | | | | | New Cor | nment | | | | | × ,) | Change History | omments | 6 | |
| 88 | | | Case Type | | Comment | | | | | | | | | New Comp | |
| ŵ | | | | | Attachmont | (antional) | | | | | | | | Their Comm | |
| Φ | | | | | Attachinent | s) (optional) | Browse | 2 No files selected. | | | | | | | |
| | Cases | × | | | Submit | • | | | | | | | \$ Attachm | | |
| | THOR Cases | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 44 | Deporting | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6 | Sandhoy | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| R | Documentation | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| بر | Settings | | Name | | | | Events 🗘 | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | - Search - | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | Open | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | _ | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | Unknown | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 6: Case – Comments



Fig. 7: Case – Changes tab

6.6 Bulk Edit / Bulk Delete

The Analysis Cockpit features a convenient way to make certain changes to groups of cases. Just select the case in the left column and click the Edit Cases or Delete Cases button.

| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | n ≗admin≁ €+ |
|--------------|--------------------|----------------|-----------------|-----|-----------|-----|--------------|------|--|--------------------|--------------------------------|---|------------|------|-------------------|------------|--------------|
| Cas | e Tvi | | | | | Ed | lit Cases | | | | | | | | Tans | | |
| 0 | C 131 | | | | | Upc | iate Case Ty | pe | | | | | | | | | |
| Note Unki | eworth nown | ıy | | | Op Clo | Upo | late Case St | atus | | | | | | | a aa | | |
| Legi Susj | itimate piciou: | e Anomaly S | | | Lev | Ado | d Comment | | | | ation (see text) | | | | nap c | | |
| Vuln | dent Ierabili | | | | Lev | Ed | it 3 |) | | memove rise from c | ampledirectory em aystem | | | | pan d ab | | |
| Cas | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | pwa 🦷 | | Delote Caree |
| Gas | es | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | Edit Cases | Delete Cases |
| Q | | | | | | | | | | | 0 | Ê | | | | | |
| | | Name | Status | Тур | | | | | | | | | Modified 🗘 | Tags | Recommendations | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| + | | Auto Case | | Unk | (nown | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| → | | | Level 1 Working | Not | eworthy | | | | | | | | | | Verify Legitimacy | | |
| | | | | Unk | known | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 8: Bulk Edit

SEVEN

MAINTENANCE

This chapter contains information on how you can regain disk space on your system or change settings which are not found in your Web UI.

7.1 Configuration Backup & Restore

The Analysis Cockpit comes with a backup and restore function for its configuration. The Configuration Backup contains the following data:

- Cases, Grouping Criteria, Recommendations, Case Changes, Case Comments
- Users, Roles, LDAP Roles, Role Rights
- User Configurations

To perform a backup, you can simply go to Settings > Backup and click Create Configuration Backup. To restore from an old backup, it is important to understand the implications of the restore. From the Backup page of the Analysis Cockpit:

The restore procedure will install a previously generated configuration backup on this Analysis Cockpit. All data on this Analysis Cockpit will be deleted before. This can only be done on newly installed Analysis Cockpits and not on an Analysis Cockpit that is already in use. Do not use the restore to rollback to an earlier point in time, this will cause inconsistent data.

Warning: Installing a configuration backup of an earlier Analysis Cockpit Release Version is not supported and may fail. The currently installed version is 3.5.6. The version of the configuration backup can be found in the file name. The backup's file name has the following pattern: analysis_cockpit_%VERSION%_backup_%DATE%.sql.gz

7.2 Regain Disk Space

If your disk is already at or close to 100% and AC no longer works properly, see section Recover from a Full Disk.

If your disk usage is growing too fast and free disk space is running out, you have several options:

- 1. Increase the size of your disk
- 2. Delete files that are not needed for operation
- 3. Delete files that are used by AC but are unneeded / dated



Fig. 1: Configuration Backup & Restore

7.2.1 Safe-to-Delete Files

The following files are safe to delete. They are not needed for AC to operate.

- /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/log/*.gz
- /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events/*.ok

They are only kept on the system if needed for further processing. E.g. saving/sending the log files to another system or keeping the THOR scans (found in events) for backup reasons. If you do not need or plan to use those, they can be deleted. If you are unsure make a copy to another system before deleting them.

More details can be found in section Recover from a Full Disk.

7.2.2 Potentially Unneeded / Dated Files

This method is only advised as a last resort if increasing your disk space is not an option.

If your AC is running for a long time, there might be data ingested that you no longer need and therefore can be deleted to regain disk space. This includes:

- Scans
- Reports

Deleting Unneeded Scans

Warning: Deleting old scans deletes information ASGARD Analysis Cockpit uses.

As an example: If you delete a scan with which an asset was marked in an incident case, this connection is no longer made and the asset will be shown with 0 incident cases.

Therefore only delete scans you no longer need. This can be done under Scans > Scans by selecting the scans with check marks and clicking Delete Events.

You can filter events for deletion with the time range picker in the completed column and e.g. selecting only scans with 0 incident and 0 suspicious cases. (Add columns using the **Columns** button).

| î↓ Asgard | ID in | Asset Hostname | î↓ Scanner | î↓ Parameters | †↓ Status | 1↓ Started | 1↓ Completed | î↓ Took | î↓ Events | î↓ Cases | Incident †↓ Cases | Suspicious î↓ Cases |
|--------------|-------|-------------------|---------------|--|--------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|----------------------|------------------------|
| | | | THOR | | | | 1970-01-01 - : | | | | | |
| | 95 | workstation-04 | THOR | THOR 10 quick syslog: %asgar IOC Rulesets: default | Completed | 2021-05-17 10:12:08 +02:00 | 2021-05-17 10:15:19 +02:00 | 3 minutes | <u>1577</u> | | | |
| 1 | 31 | workstation-02 | THOR | THOR 10 quick syslog: %asgar IOC Rulesets: default | Completed | 2021-04-01 14:51:00 +02:00 | 2021-04-01 14:56:47 +02:00 | 6 minutes | | | | |

Fig. 2: Possible Filter for Selecting Scans for Deletion

Another possibility is searching for assets which are no longer part of your infrastructure and deleting their scans.

Deleting Unneeded Reports

Old unneeded reports can be deleted via command line and are found at /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/ reports.

Note: The reports are still listed in the UI after removal, but a download attempt will fail.

7.3 Increasing ElasticSearch's Heap Space

When installing your Analysis Cockpit, your Elasticsearch instance running on the same server will be initialized with a heap space of 2GB. This means, it will only use up to 2GB RAM to perform search queries. This might also cause unused RAM and could lead to issues in rare cases.

This issue is related to ElasticSearch, which stores your Analysis Cockpit's events. Elasticsearch calculates the required RAM for operations before executing them.

If you recently increased the RAM of your server, you need to change the below configuration to make use of it. If you did not increase your RAM, but initially set up your server with more RAM, you can also go ahead and change this.

To increase heap space for ElasticSearch, edit the following configuration file on your Analysis Cockpit:

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudoedit /etc/elasticsearch/jvm.options.d/10-cockpit.options

You should see the following default values:

-Xms2g -Xmx2g

- Xms represents the initial size of total heap space
- Xmx represents the maximum size of total heap space

The 2g part of the values indicates the heap space in gigabytes. We advise to use 50% of your system's memory for ElasticSearch. On a system with a maximum of 8 GB of RAM, this would be 4g:

-Xms4g -Xmx4g

After you saved your changes, restart the elasticsearch service (this could take a few seconds!):

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudo systemctl restart elasticsearch.service

Make sure the service is in active (running) state after you restarted it:

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudo systemctl status elasticsearch.service

7.4 Elasticsearch Cluster Update

If you are running an Elasticsearch Cluster with your Analysis Cockpit, we recommend to update the cluster members anytime you are installing an update on your Analysis Cockpit. Not only might an update for the Analysis Cockpit contain an update for Elasticsearch, but more importantly, system and security updates for the underlying debian system are also included.

To update your cluster members, run the following commands on each of them:

```
nextron@node-1:~$ sudo apt update
nextron@node-1:~$ sudo apt upgrade
```

Note: Performing system updates is usually risk free. However, we still recommend that you create a backup/snapshot before updating your cluster nodes.

EIGHT

TYPICAL PITFALLS

This chapter contains typical pitfalls.

8.1 Certificate Validation Failed

If you receive the following error, SSL/TLS interception interrupted the installation process.

```
nextron@cockpit:~$ sudo nextronInstaller -cockpit
[sudo] password for nextron:
Ign:1 https://update3.nextron-systems.com analysis InRelease
Err:2 https://update3.nextron-systems.com analysis Release
Certificate verification failed: The certificate is NOT trusted. The certificate issuer_
→is unknown. Could not handshake: Error in the certificate verification. [IP: 192.168.3.
→21 8080]
```

Since we do not support setups in which the connections to our update servers are intercepted (see chapter *SSL/TLS Interception*), the only way to resolve this problem is to deactivate SSL/TLS interception for our update servers.

8.2 Log File Import of Previous Years

The log file format of (old) THOR scan logs is the original SYSLOG format, which contains no year value in the timestamp of the message header.

You can modify the timestamp of old THOR logs by using the following script:

https://github.com/NextronSystems/nextron-helper-scripts/blob/master/asgard-analysis-cockpit/thor-timestamp-coverter.py

8.3 Disk Watermark

Elasticsearch has a disk watermark that it uses to determine if it should go into read-only mode. If the disk is too full, Elasticsearch will stop accepting new data. This watermark is set to 95% by default and will prevent data loss by stopping the system from writing to the disk.

The disk watermark of the Analysis Cockpit however is set to 90%. This means on a 1TB drive you need at least 100GB of free space or the Analysis Cockpit will put itself into read-only mode. We set this value lower than the default of Elasticsearch to give you more time to react before Elasticsearch goes into read-only mode, in which case you would need to reset the read-only mode manually on Elasticsearch.

The below message shows up in the Analysis Cockpit if the disk watermark is reached:





If you see this message, the Analysis Cockpit went into a read-only mode and you need to free up some disk space or increase the disk space by allocating more storage to the virtual machine.

To free up some disk space, you can follow the instructions in the next chapter (Regain Disk Space).

If your disk usage somehow got above 95%, Elasticsearch will go into read-only mode nontheless. If this happened, you need to reset the Elasticsearch state after you freed up some disk space. You can achieve this by running the following command:

```
nextron@cockpit:~$ curl -X PUT -s -u elastic:$(cat /etc/asgard-analysis-cockpit/elastic.

→password) \

-H 'Content-Type: application/json' \

-d '{"index.blocks.read_only_allow_delete": null}' \

http://localhost:9200/_all/_settings
```

You should get the following output if the command was successful:

{"acknowledged":true}

Note: Please note that the password changes after the Analysis Cockpit was restarted, this is why we cat the password directly from the file.

8.4 Recover from a Full Disk

If your disk is full or near full, ASGARD Analysis Cockpit will not work properly. In order to resume its operation you need to make free space on the disk.

We suggest to save the files to another system beforehand, if you want to keep the information for future usage. AS-GARD will not need the following files to function and they can be removed safely:

- /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/log/*.gz
- /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events/*.ok

Especially the assignment log can grow big in production environments. If deleting the logs is not enough, deleting the already read-in events (ending on .ok) is the next best location to regain disk space. If there are too many files for a simple rm *.ok, you can use find to delete them:

If Elasticsearch does not automatically work again after cleaning up some disk space, restart it under Settings > System > Services or with sudo systemctl restart elasticsearch.service. If this is not working either, you may need to disable Elasticsearch's read-only mode. See *Disk Watermark* for a how-to.

Deleting the files given above should be enough to resume operation. If the disk on your ASGARD Analysis Cockpit is full because of growing data over time, the disk space should be increased. If that is not an option you can delete old scans as described in section *Regain Disk Space*.

8.5 Debug Failed File Imports

Check for reported problems using this command:

```
nextron@cockpit:~$ sudo su -
[sudo] password for root:
nextron@cockpit:~$ find /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events -name "\*.problem"
```

Make sure that you're able to see the imported log data and review the selected time range in the time range picker in whatever view you're reviewing the data. Be aware that the log data gets indexed with the creation timestamp of the log lines not the time of their import.

This means that if you're importing log data that is old, the default date range set in the date range picker may be too narrowly defined so that you're just unable to see the imported data.

8.6 Fixing a Broken Proxy Configuration

Sometimes during installation, proxy settings get mixed up or a typo in the proxy URL leads to a broken Internet connection.

It is not trivial to fix this situation, since the proxy settings collected during installation are changed in so many different locations on a Linux system for all the different services and command line tools.

8.6.1 Broken before Analysis Cockpit Installation

If you have set a wrong proxy before the package installation using the **sudo nextronInstaller -cockpit** command and the installer failed to fetch the required packages from our update servers, perform the following steps.

Fix the proxy string in the file /etc/apt/apt.conf.d/00proxy

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudoedit /etc/apt/apt.conf.d/00proxy

Then rerun the installer.

8.6.2 Broken after the Analysis Cockpit Installation

If your infrastructure has changed and you have to change the proxy server sometime later, edit the proxy settings in the Web GUI.

Settings > System > Proxy

FAQS

This section has frequently asked questions and answers to them. You will find that the format of this section is split into a question as the introduction of each chapter and the explanation right after.

9.1 Disabling Assignment Logs

Q: My assignment Logs on the server are growing quickly, how can I turn them off

The assignment logs located at /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/log/assignment.log write warnings and errors for the Optimize function of the Cockpit.

If you have the feeling that the log is filling up too quickly, you can turn off those logs completely. It is advised to try and see what the problem is before turning off the log completely, as this might indicate an underlying issue.

Run the following command on your Analysis Cockpit (warning: this will restart your Analysis Cockpit. If you do not want to restart the Analysis Cockpit, you can run the second command at a later time):

To turn back on the assignment.log, run the following command:

9.2 No Events visible

Q: It seems that events are not visible or have been lost. What can I do to verify that they're still in the database?

If you think that some events are not visible or have been lost, you can do the following to verify that they still exist in the database.

First, check your date range picker.

Very often, analysts forget to set it to the right time frame and old events accidentally disappear from the view.

Secondly, make sure you're using the search in the Events section and not the Baselining section.

9.3 No new Events in Case

Q: I have created a case but it seems that no new incoming events are assigned to that existing case. How can I check what's wrong?

The first thing that you should check are the auto_case_ids of the events in that case (Cases > Open Case > Events > auto_case_id Panel).

If they are distributed as in the following screenshot, it seems that auto-casing doesn't work on this case.



This case doesn't have groupable contents and uses only so-called "Dynamic Auto Case IDs", which are used whenever the Analysis cockpit was unable to find a suitable filter template to create usable filters for this type of events.

Also check the grouping criteria of that case:

Cases > Open Case > Tab Grouping Criteria

What are the conditions defined to assign new events to that case?

9.4 Location of Scan Logs

Q: Where are Scan Logs on the system located?

You can find the Scan Logs in /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events. In this folder you will find three different naming schemes:

- .txt.gz Logs which are not imported yet
- .txt.gz.ok Logs which were imported successfully
- .txt.gz.problem Logs which could not be imported correctly due to an error

If you need to manually investigate logs which failed during the import (.gz.problem), you can do so by copying the files to a different location (/tmp for example) and remove the suffix .problem. After that you can use gunzip to extract the log and inspect it. Most likely you will find that the file did not transfer correctly over to the Analysis Cockpit. This can be seen if you open the file and scroll to the very end. In this case the file will just end in the middle of a log line.

The Logs can be imported into the Cockpit via the Scans menu. Select the Asset which had a problem with the log transfer and click Request Events. This will transfer the Events from the corresponding ASGARD. You can also use the Fields Log Requested, Log Received and Log Received Error to filter and look for other failed log transmissions.

9.5 Default password for file downloads

Q: What is the password used to protect file downloads?

Artifacts uploaded to a case might be malware. To ensure the file is not automatically deleted by antivirus or executed by an unknowing user, we zip all files in the attachments and encrypt the ZIP file with a default password. The default password infected can be used to extract the file.

9.6 Disk Space filling up quickly

Q: My disk is getting full soon. What options do I have?

If your disk is already at or close to 100% and AC no longer works properly, see section Recover from a Full Disk.

In other cases check section Regain Disk Space.

9.7 Reverse Proxy to access the Analysis Cockpit

Q: I am using a Reverse Proxy to access the Analysis Cockpit. What do I have to take care of?

The Analysis Cockpit partially uses large URLs to communicate with its backend. Proxy server usually do not allow arbitrary large URLs.

In case of nginx the default header size is 8k (see http://nginx.org/en/docs/http/ngx_http_core_module.html#large_ client_header_buffers). If you want to use the Analyst Cockpit behind a nginx reverse proxy, you need to increase the *large_client_header_buffer*. A size of 100k should be sufficient. Also the HTTP2 protocol has to be disabled.

A minimal example configuration for nginx looks as follows:

```
server {
    listen 443 ssl; # !! no http2 !!
    ssl_certificate /path/to/your/certificate.crt;
    ssl_certificate_key /path/to/your/private.key;
    location / {
        proxy_pass https://analysis-cockpit.your.org;
        proxy_set_header Host $http_host;
        proxy_set_header X-Real-IP $remote_addr;
        proxy_set_header X-Forwarded-For $proxy_add_x_forwarded_for;
    }
    large_client_header_buffers 4 100k; # increase maximal allowed URL length
}
```

9.8 Internet Explorer

Q: I am using Internet Explorer and the Analyst Cockpit seems to run into a timeout. What can I do?

Modern browsers (e.g. Firefox, Chrome, Edge, Safari) support large URLs. Internet Explorer does not. If you want to access the Analyst Cockpit and all its features, you need to switch your browser.

9.9 Admin Password reset

Q: I forgot my admin password and lost access to the WebUI. How do I reset the admin user password?

If you've lost the password of the local admin user (Web GUI) but still have access the system via SSH, you can reset it via command line using the following command.

```
nextron@cockpit:~$ sudo asgard-analysis-cockpit set-password
Please enter password for user `admin`:
Please re-enter password for user `admin`:
2024-04-10T08:26:29Z [INF] SET_PASSWORD: Database initialized..
2024-04-10T08:26:29Z [INF] SET_PASSWORD: password successfully updated
```

9.10 Multi Factor Authentication reset

Q: How do I reset Multi Factor Authentication for a specific user

If you or another user lost their second factor (MFA) to log into the ASGARD Web UI, you can reset the users MFA Settings with the following command (in this example we assume that the user is called john):

TEN

KNOWN ISSUES

You can find a list of known issues in this section.

10.1 AAC#003: [WAR] could not create case

| Introduced Version | Fixed Version |
|--------------------|---------------|
| 4.0.10 | 4.0.12 |

There is currently a bug in the Analysis Cockpit when creating cases, if the following conditions are given:

- Baseline view with a limited time frame (e.g. 30 days)
- Trying to create a Condition Case

When you try to create a case with the above criteria given, you will receive the following error:

```
[WAR] could not create case ERROR: can not create case with more than one source (query / _{\rm \hookrightarrow} condition / regex) set
```

10.1.1 AAC#003: Workaround

While we are working on the fix, you can do the following to avoid the above error:

• Change the time frame to All time in your baseline view

10.2 AAC#002: Scan stuck at Status "Unknown"

| Introduced Version | Fixed Version |
|--------------------|---------------|
| 4.0.10 | 4.0.11 |

There is currently a bug in the Analysis Cockpit which prevents some Scans from being imported correctly.

This is caused by very big events (a single event bigger than 64 Kb), which will cause the parser to error. The Analysis Cockpit can never finish importing this Scan.

10.2.1 AAC#002: Fix

We are currently testing the fix, which will skip larger events and finish importing the scan logs.

You will also have the possibility to set the maximum size of a single log line in the advanced options, once the fix is released.

You will additionally see failed Log imports in the Dashboard of your Analysis Cockpit.

10.2.2 AAC#002: Check

You can check if one of your scan logs is effected if the following conditions are met:

You will see a scan which is in the Status Unknown



When you connect to your Analysis Cockpit via SSH and enter a root session, you can execute the following command to see if the error occured on one or more log files:

```
root@analysis:# grep -R "ERROR: bufio.Scanner: token too long" /var/log/asgard-analysis-

cockpit
Jan 26 16:18:49 analysis analysiscockpit4[29459]: 2024-01-26T15:18:49Z [ERR] could not.

read events from file PATH: /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events/upload_siduction_

thor_2024-01-06.txt ERROR: bufio.Scanner: token too long
```

You should see from the above output which log had problems, which should also be reflected in the filename:

```
root@analysis:# ls /var/lib/asgard-analysis-cockpit/events
upload_siduction_thor_2024-01-06.txt.problem
```

The file has the .problem suffix, which indicates a problem during the import.

Once you installed the update you can re-import the failed scan logs. You can either upload them manually again, or rename the files from the output above (remove the .problem suffix).

10.3 AAC#001: Could not get table data: Data too large

This issue is related to ElasticSearch, which stores your Analysis Cockpit's events. Elasticsearch calculates the required RAM for operations before executing them.

The below error might occur on complex searches or aggregations (e.g. for the graphs in the baselining view). To fix this issue, you have to increase the RAM of your Analysis Cockpit and reconfigure ElasticSearch to actually use more RAM.

10.3.1 AAC#001: Fix

To actually fix the problem, you have to allocate more RAM to your Analysis Cockpit. You should be able to do this via your hypervisor.

To increase heap space for ElasticSearch, edit the following configuration file on your Analysis Cockpit:

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudoedit /etc/elasticsearch/jvm.options.d/10-cockpit.options

You should see the following default values:

| -Xms2g | |
|--------|--|
| -Xmx2g | |

- Xms represents the initial size of total heap space
- Xmx represents the maximum size of total heap space

The 2g part of the values indicates the heap space in gigabytes. We advise to use 50% of your system's memory for ElasticSearch. On a system with a maximum of 8 GB of RAM, this would be 4g:

-Xms4g -Xmx4g

After you saved your changes, restart the elasticsearch service (this could take a few seconds!):

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudo systemctl restart elasticsearch.service

Make sure the service is in active (running) state after you restarted it:

nextron@cockpit:~\$ sudo systemctl status elasticsearch.service
ELEVEN

UPGRADE FROM COCKPIT V3.10.1 TO COCKPIT V4.X

This Chapter contains instructions on how to upgrade your running Analysis Cockpit version 3.10.1 to the newest version 4.

Hint: If you want to stay on version 3 of the Analysis Cockpit and still install updates, you can run the following commands via SSH:

nextron@analysis:~\$ sudo apt update
nextron@analysis:~\$ sudo apt upgrade

There are two chapters, one for a **standalone installation** and one for an installation with an **Elasticsearch Cluster**. Depending on your environment, please follow **only one** section:

- Standalone Installation Standalone Upgrade
- Cluster Installation Cluster Upgrade

We developed an update program which helps you through the upgrade by automating as much as possible. You still have to upgrade your Elasticsearch cluster manually, due to version limitations with your master node.

Important: Your cockpit will be unavailable for an extended period of time during the upgrade process, usually between 30 and 60 minutes. Please make sure that no user is working with the Analysis Cockpit during the upgrade process.

11.1 Cluster Upgrade

This chapter guides you through the upgrade process of your Analysis Cockpit version 3.10.1 to version 4.x.

It is important to follow the steps carefully. We advise you to create a snapshot of all your Elasticsearch cluster nodes and the Analysis Cockpit itself before starting your upgrade.

Danger: Please do not update your Analysis Cockpit before you update your Elasticsearch Cluster Nodes. This can potentially break your environment.

11.1.1 Preparation

To prepare for your upgrade, we compiled a list of tasks you should follow:

| Task | Description |
|--|--|
| Snapshot of your Analysis Cockpit | For disaster recovery |
| Snapshot of your Elasticsearch Cluster Nodes | For disaster recovery |
| Analysis Cockpit running version 3.10.1 | Prerequisite for the Major Upgrade |
| Newest asgard-updater is installed | This performs the update and has to be in the newest ver- sion |
| Cluster status is "green" | We don't want to upgrade a non functional cluster |
| Connection to our new update servers | New update server infrastructure |
| Stop your Analysis Cockpit - optional | To ensure no scans are being synchronized from your Management Center |

For details regarding some of the above tasks, see the next section in this manual.

With the new version of your Analysis Cockpit, we also made changes to our update servers. Please make sure that all your components can reach the following servers:

| Server | Port | Description |
|--------------------------------|---------|-------------------|
| update3.nextron-systems.com | tcp/443 | Old update server |
| update-501.nextron-systems.com | tcp/445 | New update Server |

The old update server is needed to fetch the updater and other prerequisites. The new update server is needed to upgrade your servers to Debian 12 and also to install any new packages, which are needed for your Analysis Cockpit v4.

You can find the corresponding IP-Addresses to the above FQDNs here: https://www.nextron-systems.com/resources/ hosts/.

Analysis Cockpit running version 3.10.1

To check if your Analysis Cockpit is running on the correct version. You can navigate to Settings and Updates. The page should look like this:

Newest asgard-updater is installed

This step should be performed on your Analysis Cockpit and all your cluster nodes.

To check if a newer version of the asgard-updater is available, we have to run the following commands. If you get the highlighted output, you have already the newest version installed (the version from the output might be newer in your case):

```
nextron@analysis:~$ sudo apt update
nextron@analysis:~$ sudo apt install asgard-updater
Reading package lists... Done
Building dependency tree
Reading state information... Done
asgard-updater is already the newest version (1.0.17).
0 upgraded, 0 newly installed, 0 to remove and 18 not upgraded.
```

| ÷. | ASGARD | ✓ Settings <> Updates <> |
|----|---|---|
| Ø | System Status ~ Overview | Analysis Cockpit Update |
| | Recelining > | Your system is ready for a major update that requires command line interaction. |
| • | Events > Scans > | Before proceeding, please ensure the following: • Perform a full system backup (e.g. by creating an image or snapshot) • Plan for system downtime as the update may take some time |
| | Scans > Cases > Assets > Reporting > Sandbox > Documentation > Settings ~ Users and Roles > Licensing > Updates > Case Management > Rsyslog TLS SMTP > Backup > Feedback Advanced | Plan for system downtime as the update may take some time The update will automatically: Upgrade the operating system from Debian 10 to Debian 12 Update installed software packages Require multiple system reboots Switch the update server from update3.nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com During the update, the system will not be available for regular use. Before starting the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update-301.nextron-systems.com. The updater will test connectivity before proceeding. To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: |
| | | start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log |

Fig. 1: Update Section

You can now run the asgard-updater with the following command:

nextron@analysis:~\$ start-asgard-update

Cluster status is "green"

You can see the status of your Elasticsearch Cluster with one of the following two methods:

Via the Web UI of your Analysis Cockpit:



Fig. 2: Elasticsearch Cluster Status

Or via SSH. To do this, connect to your Analysis Cockpit via SSH and run the following command:

```
nextron@analysis:~$ curl -s http://127.0.0.1:9200/_cluster/health | jq
{
  "cluster_name": "elasticsearch",
  "status": "green",
  "timed_out": false,
  "number_of_nodes": 4,
  "number_of_data_nodes": 4,
  "active_primary_shards": 8,
  "active_shards": 16,
  "relocating_shards": 0,
  "initializing_shards": 0,
  "unassigned_shards": 0,
  "delayed_unassigned_shards": 0,
  "number_of_pending_tasks": 0,
  "number_of_in_flight_fetch": 0,
  "task_max_waiting_in_queue_millis": 0,
  "active_shards_percent_as_number": 100
}
```

If you are unsure what your cluster nodes are, you can run the following command. Please note, the cluster marked as dim is your master node, or in our case the Analysis Cockpit.

```
nextron@analysis:~$ curl -s http://127.0.0.1:9200/_cat/nodes
172.28.30.53 23 61 0 0.03 0.10 0.04 di - elastic-test-03
172.28.30.52 20 61 0 0.01 0.03 0.00 di - elastic-test-02
172.28.30.225 68 97 20 1.17 1.48 1.60 dim * analysis
172.28.30.51 23 86 0 0.08 0.02 0.01 di - elastic-test-01
```

For more information, run the following command:

```
nextron@analysis:~$ curl -s 'http://127.0.0.1:9200/_cat/nodes?format=json&filter_path=ip,
→name' | iq
Ε
  {
    "ip": "172.28.123.53",
    "name": "elastic-test-03"
  },
  {
    "ip": "172.28.123.52",
    "name": "elastic-test-02"
  },
  {
    "ip": "172.28.123.225",
    "name": "analysis"
  },
  {
    "ip": "172.28.123.51",
    "name": "elastic-test-01"
  }
]
```

Stop your Analysis Cockpit - optional

You can optionally stop your Analysis Cockpit service to ensure no new scan logs are being synchronized from your Management Center. This will reduce the risk of losing new scan logs during the upgrade process.

To stop and disable the Analysis Cockpit service on your server, connect via SSH and run the following commands. Please keep in mind that stopping the service might take a while.

```
nextron@analysis:~$ sudo systemctl disable analysiscockpit3.service
Removed /etc/systemd/system/multi-user.target.wants/analysiscockpit3.service.
nextron@analysis:~$ sudo systemctl stop analysiscockpit3.service
```

11.1.2 Performing the upgrade

In this section we will perform the actual upgrade of the Analysis Cockpit and your cluster nodes. Please following the instructions carefully, and follow the sequence of updates according to this manual. Please do not continue if you don't have a backup/snapshot ready to restore your cluster in case of a disaster.

Cluster Node Upgrade

Hint: It is recommended that you update all your nodes at the same time. Do not update your Analysis Cockpit until all your notes are finished with the update.

If all the above tasks from the checklist are completed, you can start to upgrade your cluster nodes. Connect to your cluster nodes via SSH and run the following commands:

nextron@node-01:~\$ sudo apt update
nextron@node-01:~\$ sudo apt install asgard-updater
nextron@node-01:~\$ start-asgard-update

This will install the asgard-updater, which will take care of the update task. The tool will upgrade your Elasticsearch version to the latest minor version available. After this, it will upgrade the OS from Debian 10 to Debian 12. Your system will restart many times during the update. If you have the feeling the upgrade is stuck at one point, you can run the following command and see the latest logs:

nextron@node-01:~\$ sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log

The update is finished if you are seeing the following lines:

Please continue with the next step to finish the upgrade.

Analysis Cockpit Upgrade

You Elasticsearch Cluster will now be in a degraded ("red") state, since your Analysis Cockpit is still running on an older version of Elasticsearch. This is expected as long as you did not finish your Analysis Cockpit upgrade. You should see the cluster changing to a normal ("green") state throughout the upgrade of your Analysis Cockpit.

To finish your upgrade, connect to your Analysis Cockpit via SSH. We will run the following command on the command line to initiate the upgrade:

```
nextron@node-01:~$ sudo apt update
nextron@node-01:~$ sudo apt install asgard-updater
nextron@node-01:~$ start-asgard-update
```

The server running your Analysis Cockpit will now restart multiple times. It is important to not interrupt the upgrade process and let the server do all the tasks. You can however see if any errors occurred during the upgrade or just observe at what stage the upgrade is.

Run the following command to see the status of your upgrade:

nextron@analysis:~\$ sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log

There is a chance that you see the following log lines repeatedly in the output:

If this is the case, your cluster nodes might not be fully online yet. The updater tries this check every minute to make sure the cluster is fully online and healthy, before continuing with the next steps. Even if it looks like the updater is stuck, you have to give it some time and wait for it to continue by itself.

The update is finished if you are seeing the following lines:

```
nextron@node-01:~$ sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log
2023-11-10T09:29:04.835115+01:00 analysis asgard-updater[536]: Elasticsearch service_

→status: active
2023-11-10T09:29:04.835194+01:00 analysis asgard-updater[536]: Upgrade finished._

→Deactivating service...
2023-11-10T09:29:04.844839+01:00 analysis asgard-updater[536]: Removed "/etc/systemd/

→system/multi-user.target.wants/asgard-updater.service".
```

Your cluster status should change back to a "green" status once all the updates of your Analysis Cockpit are installed. You can see the status in your Analysis Cockpit in the top right corner:

| 🥙 System Status 💈 🤇 | | |
|---------------------|--|-----------------------------|
| | ElasticSearch Status × | |
| Signature Feedbac | | |
| | | |
| Software List | "cluster_name": "elasticsearch", | e last restart) |
| | "Status": "green", "timed out" - falce | |
| Product | number of nodes': 4, | |
| ASGARD Analysis | "number_of_data_nodes" : 4, | |
| | "active_primary_shards" : 10, | |
| | "active_shards" : 20, | |
| | "relocating_shards" : 0, "initializion_shards" : 0 | |
| | "unasting shards : 0, | |
| CPU Load | "delayed_unasigned_shards" : 0, | onnectivity Test |
| | "number_of_pending_tasks" : 0, | |
| | "number_of_in_flight_fetch" : 0, | |
| 15 | "task_max_walting_in_queue_millis" : 0, "active shorte procent ac pueues" : 100 0 | |
| | active_snatus_percent_as_number . 190.0 | update3.nextron-systems.com |
| | | |
| | | |

Fig. 3: Elasticsearch Cluster Status

Your upgrade is now finished, and you can use your Analysis Cockpit with the newest version.

11.2 Standalone Upgrade

This chapter guides you through the upgrade process of your Analysis Cockpit version 3.10.1 to version 4.x.

It is important to follow the steps carefully. We advise you to create a snapshot of the Analysis Cockpit itself before starting your upgrade.

11.2.1 Preparation

To prepare for your upgrade, we compiled a list of tasks you should follow:

| Task | Description |
|---|------------------------------------|
| Snapshot of your Analysis Cockpit | For disaster recovery |
| Analysis Cockpit running version 3.10.1 | Prerequisite for the Major Upgrade |
| Connection to our new update servers | New update server infrastructure |

For details regarding some of the above tasks, see the next section in this manual.

With the new version of your Analysis Cockpit, we also made changes to our update servers. Please make sure that all your components can reach the following servers:

| Server | Port | Description |
|--------------------------------|---------|-------------------|
| update3.nextron-systems.com | tcp/443 | Old update server |
| update-301.nextron-systems.com | tcp/443 | New update Server |

The old update server is needed to fetch the updater and other prerequisites. The new update server is needed to upgrade your servers to Debian 12 and also to install any new packages, which are needed for your Analysis Cockpit v4.

You can find the corresponding IP-Addresses to the above FQDNs here: https://www.nextron-systems.com/resources/ hosts/.

Analysis Cockpit running version 3.10.1

To check if your Analysis Cockpit is running on the correct version you can navigate to Settings and Updates. The page should looks like this:

11.2.2 Performing the upgrade

In this section we will perform the actual upgrade of the Analysis Cockpit.

| Participant Participant Overview Analysis Cockpit Update Logs Analysis Cockpit Update Vour system is ready for a major update that requires command line interaction. Before proceeding, please ensure the following: Perform a full system backup (eg. by creating an image or snapshot) File of system downtime as the update may take some time Cases Buddle installed software packages Require multiple system from Debian 10 to Debian 12 Update installed software packages Require multiple system reboots Sandbox Sottings Before starting the update, ensure that your frewall allows access to update - 301.nextron - systems.com. The update will automatically: Update issallate connectivity before proceeding. Licensing To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: start - asgard - update To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster node, too. Reyslog To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo apt update Soft the update progress and view log | | | ✓ Settings ☆ > Undates ☆ |
|--|----------|-----------------|---|
| System Status Overview Orgeniew Orgeniem Orge | | AJUANU | |
| Overview Liogs Vour system is ready for a major update that requires command line interaction. III Baselining Before proceeding, please ensure the following: Perform a full system backup (e.g. by creating an image or snapshot) Plan for system downtime as the update may take some time III Cases The update will automatically: Assets Upgrade the operating system from Debian 10 to Debian 12 Upgrade installed software peckages Reporting Sandbox Switch the update server from update3, nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com Documentation During the update, the system will not be available for regular use. Vestings Settings Users and Roles Update the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: start - asgard - update System To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt 1 install asgard-update r start - asgard-update r sta | Ø | System Status | Analysis Coskrit Indata |
| Logs > Image: | | Overview | Analysis Cockpit upuate |
| Image: Series and Series and Roles | | Logs | Your system is ready for a major update that requires command line interaction. |
| ▶ Events > Events > Events > Perform a full system backup (e.g. by creating an image or snapshot) > Plan for system downtime as the update may take some time Cases > Assets > Upgrade the operating system from Debian 10 to Debian 12 > Upgrade the operating system from Debian 10 to Debian 12 > Upgrade the operating system from update 3.nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com > Documentation > Settings > Settings > Settings > Update installed software packages > Before starting the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update-301.nextron-systems.com. The update will test connectivity before proceeding. > Uning the update, he system vial not be available for regular use. > Settings > Update installed software packages > Update in the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update-301.nextron-systems.com. The update will test connectivity before proceeding. > Uning the update, and analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: > Link Products > Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: > sudo tat1 - f /var/log/asgard - updater / update - log > Nate: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. > To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node updater start - asgard - update > sudo apt update > sudo apt update > sudo apt update > sudo apt install asgard-updater > sudo apt update > sudo apt update > To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: > sudo apt update > sudo apt install asgard-updater | | Baselining | |
| Scans > Image: Cases > | | Events | Before proceeding, please ensure the following: Perform a full system backup (e.g. by creating an image or snapshot) |
| ☐ Cases Assets Assets Reporting ○ Sandbox > Sudbox > Switch the update is earver from update3. nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com Documentation > Settings > Switch the update earver from update3. nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com During the update, the system will not be available for regular use. Before starting the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update-301.nextron-systems.com. The update will test connectivity before proceeding. Updates Link Products Cases Management Reyslog TLS System Sackup Feedback Advanced Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster you have to update to lowing command: sudo at 1 - f /var/log/asgard-updater Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo at 1 - f /var/log/asgard-updater /update - log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo at 1 - f /var/log/asgard-updater /update - log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster you can use the following command: sudo at 1 - f /var/log/asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update store stard wiew log files, you can use the following command: sudo at 1 - f /var/log/asgard-updater sudo apt install asgard-updater sudo apt install asgard-updater sudo at 1 - f /var/log/asgard-updater sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard-updater sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard-updater log | ¢ | Scans | Plan for system downtime as the update may take some time |
| Assets Assets Reporting Sandbox Bocumentation Documentation During the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update - 301. nextron - systems.com During the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update - 301. nextron - systems.com. The update milliple system vial command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Link Products Case Management System System System Backup Feedback Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo apt i install asgard-updater sudo apt i install asgard-updater start - asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt i install asgard-updater start - asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt i install asgard-updater sudo apt i update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt i install asgard-updater sudo apt i install asgard-updater sudo apt i install asgard-updater start - asgard - update | E | Cases | > The undate will automatically |
| Update installed software packages Reporting Update installed software packages Require multiple system reboots Sandbox Switch the update server from update3. nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com Documentation Updates Updates Updates Link Products Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard-updater tait - asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard-updater | = | Assets | Upgrade the operating system from Debian 10 to Debian 12 |
| Require multiple system reboots Sandbox Sandbox Switch the update server from update3.nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com Documentation During the update, the system will not be available for regular use. Settings Users and Roles Licensing Updates To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: start - asgard - update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt update | 4 | Penorting | Update installed software packages |
| Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Sandoox Settings Users and Roles Licensing Updates To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Case Management Start - asgard - update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo at 1 install asgard - update Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard - update is use the following commands: sudo at 1 install asgard - update Sudo at 1 update Sudo at 1 update Sudo at 1 update To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard - update to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo tail - f /var/log/asgard-updater To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt infate | <u> </u> | Condition | Require multiple system reboots |
| Documentation During the update, the system will not be available for regular use. Settings Users and Roles Licensing Updates To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Case Management Rsyslog TLS SMTP System System Feedback Advanced Login to the cluster node update rode via command line and execute the following commands: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update rode via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater | V | Sandbox | Switch the update server from update3.nextron-systems.com to update-301.nextron-systems.com |
| Settings Users and Roles Licensing Before starting the update, ensure that your firewall allows access to update-301.nextron-systems.com. The updater will test connectivity before proceeding. Updates To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Case Management Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: start-asgard-update TLS To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt update Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt install asgard-updater start - asgard-update Sudo apt install asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt install asgard-updater start - asgard-update To monitor the upda | i | Documentation | During the update, the system will not be available for regular use. |
| Users and Roles > Licensing updater will test connectivity before proceeding. Updates To initiate the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps: Link Products Case Management Case Management Start-asgard-update Rsyslog To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: SMTP sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater sudo apt install asgard-updater To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater.log | عر | Settings < | Refore starting the undate ensure that your firewall allows access to undate-301, next ron-systems, com The |
| Licensing Updates A Lick Products Case Management Rsyslog TLS SMTP System System Feedback Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following command: start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt update Sudo apt update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater Start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | Users and Roles | updater will test connectivity before proceeding. |
| Updates Initiate the ASOAKO Analysis Cockpit update via the Command line, please follow these steps. Link Products Case Management Case Management start-asgard-update Rsyslog To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log SMTP System Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following commands: sudo apt install asgard-updater Start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | Licensing | To initiate the ASCADD Analysis Cooksit undets uis the command line, places follow these store: |
| Link Products > Link Products > Case Management > Rsyslog TLS TLS To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log SMTP System > Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Feedback To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | _ | Updates 🛠 | to initiate the ASGARD Analysis cockpit update via the command line, please follow these steps. |
| Case Management > Rsyslog TLS TLS sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log SMTP - System > Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Feedback To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | Link Products | Login to the system via command line and execute the following command: |
| Rsystog To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: SMTP sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log System > Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater Login to the cluster node update rogress and view log files, you can use the following command: | | Case management | <pre>/ start-asgard-update</pre> |
| sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log SMTP System System Backup Feedback Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | TLS | To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: |
| System > Backup To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-update.log | | SMTP | sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log |
| Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster nodes, too. Backup Feedback Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updaterlog | | System | |
| Feedback To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater.log | | Backup | Note: If you are using an ElasticSearch cluster, you have to upgrade the cluster hodes, too. |
| Advanced Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | Feedback | To initiate the ElasticSearch cluster node update via the command line, please follow these steps: |
| sudo apt update sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | Advanced | Login to the cluster node via command line and execute the following commands: |
| sudo apt install asgard-updater start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | | sudo apt update |
| start-asgard-update To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | | sudo apt install asgard-updater |
| To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | | start-asgard-update |
| sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log | | | To monitor the update progress and view log files, you can use the following command: |
| | | | sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Fig. 4: Update Section

Analysis Cockpit Upgrade

To start your upgrade, connect to your Analysis Cockpit via SSH. We will utilize asgard-updater to perform the upgrade. First we need to check if a newer version of the asgard-updater is available. If you get the highlighted output, you have already the newest version installed (the version might differ from the output here):

```
nextron@analysis:~$ sudo apt update
nextron@analysis:~$ sudo apt install asgard-updater
Reading package lists... Done
Building dependency tree
Reading state information... Done
asgard-updater is already the newest version (1.0.17).
0 upgraded, 0 newly installed, 0 to remove and 18 not upgraded.
```

You can now run the asgard-updater with the following command:

nextron@analysis:~\$ start-asgard-update

The server running your Analysis Cockpit will now restart multiple times. It is important to not interrupt the upgrade process and let the server do all the tasks. You can, however, see if any errors occurred during the upgrade or just observe at what stage the upgrade is.

Run the following command to see the status of your upgrade:

nextron@analysis:~\$ sudo tail -f /var/log/asgard-updater/update.log

The update is finished if you are seeing the following lines:

Your upgrade is now finished, and you can use your Analysis Cockpit with the newest version.

TWELVE

GLOSSARY

This chapter contains explanations about wording used in the Analysis Cockpit and our ASGARD products.

12.1 Baselining

The Baselining section is meant to assign all unassigned events to cases, so that newly incoming events are immediately assigns to existing cases and only differences to the last scan have to be reviewed. (new malware, new signatures)

12.1.1 Auto Baselining

The Auto Baselining feature can be used to assign events to new and automatically generated cases. Auto Casing makes use of the so-called Auto Case ID, which is the same for all events of a certain type (see Glossary > Cases > Auto Case ID for details).

Auto Baselining is typically used to quickly reduce the remaining events in the Baselining section. It reduced the burden to manually group together events of a similar type.

Automatically cased events can then be reviewed in the Cases section.

Auto Baselining uses a threshold that defines the minimum number of events required in each of these automatically generated cases. A threshold of 10 instructs the process to create only cases for groups of at least 10 similar events. Obviously, we do not recommend using threshold of 1, but everything higher than 1 can be reasonable.

The best practice is to start the Auto Baselining process with a relatively high threshold (e.g., 10) and then subsequently perform iterations with lower thresholds.

12.1.2 Optimization

The Optimization is used to assign unassigned events to cases based on their filters.

Usually, an analyst selects events and creates a case with these events. During the case creation a set of filters gets generated to automatically assign newly incoming events to this case.

Often, characteristics of existing older events also align with the criteria described in the filters of the new case. However, they do not get assigned to that case, because they're already in the database and the case assignment only happens when new events arrive.

Optimization is used to assign unassigned events to existing cases.

12.2 Cases

12.2.1 Auto Case ID (formerly Group ID)

The Auto Case ID is an automatically generated ID for a group of events.

This group has been formed automatically by the use filters generated from predefined filter templates (see Glossary > Invisible > Filter Templates).

Auto Case IDs identify a groupable set of events.

The Auto Case IDs are used in case creation as the default method to assign new events to a case. You can review the Auto Case IDs used to assign new events to a case in the Tab Grouping Criteria of each case.

They are also used in "Auto Casing" and "Optimization". (see *Baselining*)

12.2.2 Dynamic Auto Case ID

The Dynamic Auto Case IDs are generated for events that don't have a corresponding filter template defined. This is often the case for very rare event types or events of a low level (Info, Notice).

You can think of them as a fallback in form of a less efficient grouping method.

They are usually created of all fields of an event except the ones that are highly specific, like the HOSTNAME field.

If your case uses many Dynamic Auto Case IDs, distinguishable by the leading uppercase "D", then automatic event assignment is nearly impossible. In these cases, you should rather use a string conditions to group events into that case and assign new incoming events automatically.

12.2.3 Filter Priority

It is possible that two or more cases include filters that would assign a new incoming event to them. This often happens when one case uses Auto Case ID (see Glossary section) and another case uses a string selection (String Condition).

The filter priority can be used to prioritize the filters of a case so that newly incoming events go to that prioritized case and not the one with the default priority.

You could also create fallback cases, e.g., for all events of the level "Notice" and intentionally reduce the priority of this case so that other cases that select events of that level always come first.

The full prioritization process looks like:

- Case with higher priority takes the event
- If both cases have the same priority, the case with the higher "Type" takes the event (Incident > Noteworthy)
- If both cases have the same priority and the same type, the case with the smaller case ID (older case) takes the events

12.2.4 External ID

This field is optional and can be used to refer to an ID that you use in a different system, like a ticket management system or an incident response platform.

12.2.5 Difference between Summary and Assessment

The field Summary is meant to include the elements (fields) of events that are used as characteristics to perform an assessment. You can think of it as the values that you as an analyst want to highlight for other analysts that review that specific case. It's often a special file name and location or a process name and YARA rule match on that process.

You can use the "Auto Summary" feature to get an auto-recommended content for this field.

The field Assessment is the one that requires the most effort. It contains the findings of the analyst's review.

12.2.6 Case Types

The following table describes the cases types taxonomy used in Analysis Cockpit.

| Туре | Description |
|-----------------------|--|
| Incident | Incident cases report a clear threat, indicated by a hard match and verified by research of an analyst. Analysts create incident cases to indicate the highest possible certainty and risk. Incident cases are also characterized by the fact that they do not need to be verified by someone else. They either indicate malware, a threat group or penetration testing activity and should trigger immediate response. |
| Suspicious | Suspicious cases are based on significant indicators that require a review by someone within the or- ganization or more evidence to come to a final conclusion. Often, file samples or process memory dumps are required to verify/falsify a verdict. Cases of this type usually trigger evidence collection or review actions. |
| Noteworthy | Noteworthy cases are based on soft indicators or elements that should be reviewed whenever there is time to do that. They include all kinds of events that cannot be dismissed as false positives or anomalies but are likely uncritical. Noteworthy cases don't trigger an immediate response but should be reviewed whenever there is time to do that. |
| Vulnerability | Vulnerability cases contain detected software or configuration weaknesses that compromise sys- tem integrity. The reported vulnerabilities often include easy to exploit weaknesses that are fre- quently used by threat groups to execute code remotely, gain access or escalate privileges on af- fected systems. Cases classified as Vulnerability are typically integrated into a vulnerability man- agement process as an additional input channel. |
| Legitimate Anomaly | Legitimate Anomaly cases contain events that are related to legitimate elements that are suspicious, but an ordinary finding in the context of the analyzed organization. The reason for an anomaly is not a malfunction of the scanner but a peculiarity within the analyzed environment. Legitimate Anomalies don't trigger any further activity. |
| False Positive | False Positive cases contain events that indicate suspicious or malicious activity, but the review revealed that it is actually legitimate software or other elements. The only reason for a false positive is a scanner malfunction or signatures that falsely report a threat (see section <i>Difference between False Positive and Legitimate Anomaly</i> for details). A false positive usually triggers a review by Nextron Systems and a signature adjustment. |
| Unknown | The default state of newly created cases. |

12.2.7 Difference between False Positive and Legitimate Anomaly

We use "False Positive" and "Legitimate Anomaly" to distinguish between situations in which the scanner (THOR) made an error and situations in which a customer environment contains suspicious or malicious elements that are known.

E.g., a Winrar used by admins as **r.exe** in C:\users\public for software rollout purposes is not considered a "False Positive" but a "Legitimate Anomaly". It is a finding which doesn't have to be fixed in THOR's signature set but is simply a specific situation in the analyzed environment.

Matches that are clearly an error in THOR signatures should be classified as "False Positive".

Examples for "Legitimate Anomalies":

- Procdump.exe findings
- Suspicious RUN Key entries that use customer software
- Custom software that uses suspicious folders, e.g. C:\Users\Public, %AppData%
- Process memory match with a "ReflectiveLoader" YARA rule on a third party EDR agent process

Examples for "False Positives":

- YARA rule match on Bloomberg or SAP software
- Filename IOC match w64.exe on a Perl for Windows build tool
- YARA rule match with "Putty_Anomaly" on a legitimate and signed putty.exe

Another good example is one of the many anomaly signatures that triggers on an XORed MS-DOS Stub. A match with such a signature only qualifies as false positives when there is no XORed MS-DOS stub in that file and not when it turns out to be a legitimate file. The signature detects what it is designed to detect.

A signature with a rule named MAL_Xrat_Mar21_1 that triggers on a legitimate and signed executable, however, is a false positive.

12.3 Invisible (Backend)

12.3.1 Filter Templates

The Analysis Cockpit uses so-called filter templates that describe which fields in which event types are specific enough to be used in a filter that can be used to automatically group events.

These groups can be identified by a common so-called "Auto Case ID" (formerly Group ID). See the respective entry in this Glossary.

The filter templates are static and predefined.

E.g., a typical filter template states that for events in the Module Filescan, the fields **FILE** and **SHA1** are sufficiently specific to group events based on equal values in these two fields.

THIRTEEN

CHANGELOG

This chapter contains a list of all changes. Those changes are only related to the Analysis Cockpit version 4.

13.1 Analysis Cockpit v4

13.1.1 Analysis Cockpit 4.0.13

Release Date Wed, 6 Mar 2024 07:32:00 +0200

| Туре | Description |
|--------|--|
| Bugfix | Added second level of 'disk watermark' to prevent ElasticSearch from not working properly when disk space is low |

13.1.2 Analysis Cockpit 4.0.12

Release Date Tue, 20 Feb 2024 16:20:00 +0200

| Туре | Description |
|--------|---|
| Bugfix | Fixed import of THOR logfiles with very long lines |
| Bugfix | Fixed error on creating new cases based on condition and time range |
| Bugfix | Fixed non-working ntp service restart after ntp configuration changes |

This chapter contains all the changes of the ASGARD Analysis Cockpit.

13.1.3 Analysis Cockpit 4.0.10

Release Date

Tue, 16 Jan 2024 10:26:00 +0100

| Туре | Description |
|---------|--|
| Feature | Automatic index rollover |
| Feature | Cluster configuration |
| Change | Using timesyncd instead of ntpd. We recommend to check your NTP settings in the UI after upgrade |
| Change | Improved sync performance between Management Center and Analysis Cockpit |

FOURTEEN

INDEX

• genindex

INDEX

Α

AC4 Changes, 117 Additional Case Functionalities, 80 Admin Password reset, 98 Administration, 22 API, 43

В

Backend, 116 Backup & Restore, 85 Baselining Best Practices, 57 Baselining Glossary, 113 Baselining View, 61 Basic Concepts, 43

С

Canned Recommendations, 27 Case Creation Part 1, 61 Case Creation Part 2, 72 Case Management, 76 Case Workflow, 79 Cases and Log Processing, 49 Cases Glossary, 113 Changelog, 116 Cluster Update, 88 Cluster Upgrade, 103 Configure the OS, 18

D

Default Password of file downloads, 97 Disabling Assignment Logs, 95 Disk Space filling up quickly, 97

Е

ElasticSearch Heap Space,88 ESXi,9 Events,45

F

FAQs, 94

G

Glossary, 112

Η

Hardware Requirements, 3 Home, 1

I

Install Service, 19 Installer, 9 Internet Explorer, 97 Introduction, 3

Κ

Known Issues, 98

L

List of Known Issues, 99 Location of Scan Logs, 96 Log File Import, 32

Μ

Maintenance, 84 Management Center Integration, 25 Multi Factor Authentication reset, 98

Ν

Network,9 Network Requirements,4 No Events visible,95 No new Events in Case,95

0

Other Installer Steps, 17 Other Optional Requirements, 8

Ρ

Permissions, 54 Pitfalls, 91

R

Regain Disk Space, 85 Requirements, 1 Reverse Proxy to access the Analysis Cockpit, 97

S

Sandbox Integration, 38 Setup, 8 Standalone Upgrade, 109 System Settings, 27

Т

Typical Pitfalls, 89

U

Upgrade, 101

V

Verify the ISO, 6